MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF APOLLO TYRES LIMITED



Form I.R.

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

No. 2449 of 1972

I hereby certify that APOLLO TYRES LIMITED is this day incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 (No.1 of 1956) and that the Company is Limited.

Given under my hand at Cochin this Twenty eighth day of September One thousand nine hundred and seventy two.

SEAL

Sd/(K.K. SYED MUHAMMAD)
Registrar of Companies,
Kerala State



CERTIFICATE OF COMMENCEMENT OF BUSINESS Pursuant to Section 149(3) of The Companies Act, 1956.

I hereby certify that the APOLLO TYRES LIMITED which was incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, on the TWENTY EIGHTH day of SEPTEMBER 1972, and which has this day filed a duly verified declaration in form that the conditions of Section 149(2) (a) to (c) of the said Act have been complied with, is entitled to commence business.

Given under my hand at COCHIN this TWENTY FOURTH day of OCTOBER, One thousand nine hundred and seventy two.

SEAL

Sd/(K.K. SYED MUHAMMAD)
Registrar of Companies,
Kerala State



propagation agraes to g

CONTENTS

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

OF

APOLLO TYRES LIMITED

PART A

CONSTITUTION OF THE COMPANY

1. Constitution:

INTERPRETATION OF CLAUSE

2. Interpretation.

CAPITAL

3. Share Capital.

BUSINESS

- 4. Power of Company to purchase its own securities.
- 5. Further issue of Capital.
- 6. Preference Shares.
- 7. Variation of Rights.
- 8. Issue of further shares pari passu shall not affect the right of shares already issued.
- 9. Issue of Shares with differential rights.
- 10. Power to pay Commission.
- 11. Trust not recognized.
- 12. Acceptance of shares.

SHARE CERTIFICATES

- 13. Right to certificates.
- 14. Dematerialization.
- 15. Certificate for joint holders.
- 16. First named joint holder deemed sole holder.
- 17. Renewal of certificate.
- 18. Splitting and consolidating of share certificates.

CALLS ON SHARES

- 19. Calls.
- 20. Length of notice of call.

- 21. Sums payable in fixed installments to be deemed calls.
- 22. When installments on calls payable.
- 23. Interest on sums payable at fixed time.
- 24. Payment of call in advance.
- 25. Partial payment not to prelude forfeiture.
- 26. Persons by whom installments are payable.
- 27. Liability of joint holders of shares.

LIEN

- 28. Company's lien on shares.
- 29. Enforcing of lien by sale.
- 30. Authority to transfer.
- 31. Application for proceeds of sales.

FORFEITURE OF SHARES

- 32. If call or instalment not paid, notice may be given.
- 33. Form of notice.
- 34. If notice not complied with shares may be forfeited.
- 35. Surrender of shares.
- 36. Board's right to disposal of forfeited shares or cancellation of forfeiture.
- 37. Liability after forfeiture.
- 38. Declaration of forfeiture.
- 39. Non-payment of sums payable at fixed times.
- 40. Closure of Register of Members and Register of Debenture Holders.

TRANSMISSION OF SHARES

- 41. Transmission of shares.
- 42. Nomination by Shareholder.
- 43. Rights and liabilities of legal representatives.
- 44. Notice of election by legal representatives.
- 45. Company's right to register transfer by apparent legal owner.
- 46. Provision to apply to Securities.
- 47. Statutory Register.

CONVERSION OF SHARES INTO STOCK

- 48. Conversion of Shares.
- 49. Transfer of Stock.
- 50. Rights of Stock holders
- 51. Applicability of Regulations to Stock and Stock holders

ALTERATION OF CAPITAL

- 52. Alteration of Capital.
- 53. Reduction of Capital etc.

GENERAL MEETING

- 54. General Meeting.
- 55. Extraordinary General Meeting.
- 56. Extraordinary General Meeting by Requisition.
- 57. Length of notice for calling meeting.
- 58. Accidental omission to give notice not to invalidate meeting.
- 59. Special Business.

PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

- 60. Quorum.
- 61. If quorum not present when meeting to be dissolved and when to be adjourned.
- 62. Chairman of General Meeting.
- 63. Adjournment of the meeting.
- 64. Questions at General Meeting how decided.
- 65. Casting Vote.
- 66. Taking of poll.
- 67. In what cases poll taken without adjournment.
- 68. No member entitled to vote while call due to the company.
- 69. Votes.
- 70. Postal Ballot.
- 71. Validity of Votes.
- 72. Vote by joint holders.
- 73. Vote on behalf of member of unsound mind or minor.
- 74. Proxies permitted on polls.

- 75. Instrument of Proxy.
- 76. Proxy to be deposited at the office.
- 77. Validity of vote by Proxy.
- 78. Form of Proxy.
- 79. Time for objections to votes.
- 80. Chairman of any meeting to be the judge of validity of any vote.
- 81. Minutes.

DIRECTORS

- 82. Number of Directors.
- 83. Remuneration of Directors.
- 84. Special remuneration of Directors performing extra service and reimbursement of expenses.
- 85. Additional Director.
- 86. Casual Vacancy.
- 87. Alternate Directors.
- 88. Continuing Directors may act.
- 89. Disqualification/ Vacation of office of Directors.
- 90. Director may contract with Company.
- 91. Right of Directors.

RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS

- 92. Rotation and Retirement of Directors.
- 93. Retiring Director eligible for re-election.
- 94. Which Directors to retire by Rotation.
- 95. Retiring Directors to remain in office till successors appointed.
- 96. Power to remove Directors by ordinary resolution.
- 97. Right to other persons other than retiring Directors to stand for Directorship.

PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS

- 98. Meeting of the Board.
- 99. Participation through Electronic Mode.
- 100. Quorum.
- 101. Questions how decided.
- 102. Chairman/ Vice Chairman.

- 103. Chairman Emeritus.
- 104. Committee.
- 105. Election of Chairman of the Committee.
- 106. Questions how determined.
- 107. Acts done by Board or Committee valid notwithstanding defective appointment etc.
- 108. Resolution by Circulation.

POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS

- 109. Powers of Company vested in Directors.
- 110. Chief Executive Officer, Manager, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary.
- 111. Appointment and Powers of Managing Directors.
- 112. Same Individual may be Chairperson and Managing Director/ Chief Executive Officer.
- 113. Legal Proceedings.
- 114. Powers to delegate to Directors.
- 115. Attorney of the Company.

BORROWING

- 116. Borrowing.
- 117. Nomination of Directors.
- 118. Charge on uncalled capital.
- 119. Subsequent assignees of uncalled capital.
- 120. Charge in favour of Director or indemnity.

COMMON SEAL

- 121. Common Seal.
- 122. Official seal for use abroad.
- 123. Affixation of Common Seal.

DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES

- 124. Right to Dividend.
- 125. Declaration of Dividends.
- 126. Interim Dividend.
- 127. Dividends to be paid out of profits only.
- 128. Reserve funds.
- 129. Method of payment of Dividend.

- 130. Deduction of Arrears.
- 131. Adjustments of dividends against calls.
- 132. Payment by electronic means, Cheque or Warrant.
- 133. Receipt of Joint Holders.
- 134. Dividends not to bear interest.
- 135. Unclaimed dividends.
- 136. Transfer of shares not to pass prior dividends.
- 137. Waiver of Dividends.

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS

- 138. Capitalisation of profits.
- 139. Powers of Directors for declaration of bonus.

ACCOUNTS

- 140. Books of accounts.
- 141. Right of members of copies of Balance Sheet and Auditors' Report.
- 142. Financial Statements.

AUDIT

- 143. Appointment and Audit.
- 144. Service of documents on the company.
- 145. How documents are to be served on members.
- 146. Members to notify address in India.
- 147. Service on members having no registered address in India.
- 148. Service on persons acquiring shares on death or insolvency of members.
- 149. Persons entitled to notice of general meetings.
- 150. Advertisement.
- 151. Members bound by documents given to previous holders.
- 152. How notice to be signed.

WINDING UP

- 153. Winding up.
- 154. Division of assets of the Company in specie among members.

INDEMNITY AND RESPONSIBILITY

155. Right of Directors and others to indemnity.

- 156. Not responsible for acts of others.
- 157. Secrecy clause.
- 158. General Powers.

PART B

OVERRIDING ARTICLES

- 1. INTERPRETATION.
- 2. Board Composition.
- 3. Indemnity of the Investor Director.
- 4. Pre-emptive Right.
- 5. Fall-away of the Investor's Rights.

THE COMPANIES ACT, 1956 COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION

OF

APOLLO TYRES LIMITED

- I. The name of the Company is Apollo Tyres Ltd.
- II. The registered office of the Company will be situated in the State of Kerala.
- III. The objects for which the Company is established are:-
- A. The main objects to be pursued by the Company on its incorporation:-
- 1. To manufacture, produce, prepare, press, vulcanise, repair, retread and generally to carry on business of manufacturer in tyres for different types of vehicles including buses, omni buses, charabance, trucks, lorries, automobiles, motor-cycles, cycles, tractors, aeroplanes and also in industrial tyres, inner tubes, flaps, miscellaneous repair materials and other articles and appliances made with or from natural and/ or synthetic rubber, its compounds, substance, derivatves, and substitutes, India rubber, or the same in combination with any metallic or non-metallic substances, vulcanite, leather, rayon, hessian or plastics or products in which rubber, rayon, hessian or plastics is or are used.
- 2. To export, import, purchase, sell, deal and trade in all such varieties of tyres, tubes, flaps, miscellaneous repair materials and other articles and appliances made with or from natural and/ or synthetic rubber, its compounds, substances, derivatives and substitutes, India rubber, or the same in combination with any metallic or non-metallic substances, vulcanite leather, rayon, hessian or plastics or products in which rubber, rayon, hessian or plastic is or are used.
- *3. To carry on the business of manufacturers, fabricators, processors, producers, importers, exporters, buyers, sellers, suppliers, stockists, agents, merchants, distributors and dealers in natural rubber, India rubber, synthetic rubber, in compounds made from rubber and by-products of rubber.
- *4. To carry on the business of manufacturers, fabricators, processors producers, importers, exporters, buyers, sellers, suppliers, stockists, agents, merchants, distributors and dealers in any metallic or non-metallic substances, leather, hides and skins, chemicals, nylon, rayon, asbestos, canvas, flooring and paving materials and other compositions, water proof articles, articles made of plastic, oil-cloth, linoleum, tarpaulins and all other articles which are components used for the manufacture of tyres.

(*Amended vide Company Law Board Order dated 3.6.92)

- B. Objects incidental or ancillary to the attainment of the main objects:-
- To carry on the business of planters, growers and cultivators of rubber and to treat, to prepare, render marketable, buy, sell and dispose of rubber or products either in their raw or manufactured state.
- 2. To purchase, take on lease, or exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any land containing rubber trees or suitable for the planting; cultivation and growth of rubber trees or otherwise suitable for the growth of timber, wood and other produce of the soil or otherwise suitable or necessary for the business of the Company and any rights or privileges, which the company may think necessary or convenient for the purpose of its business or which may enhance the value of any other property of the Company and in particular land, buildings, casements, machinery, plant, and stock-in-trade.
- 3. To buy, sell, manufacture, repair, alter, improve, exchange or hire, import and export and deal in all works, plant, machinery, tools and utensils, appliances, apparatus, materials, substances, articles, and things capable of being used in any and every such business as aforesaid or required by any customers of or persons having dealings with the Company or commonly dealt in by persons engaged in any such business or which may seem capable of being profitably dealt with in connection with any of the said business and to manufacture, experiment with, render marketable, and deal in all residual and bye-products incidental to or obtained in any of the business carried on by the Company.
- 4. To enter into any arrangements with any government or authorities, municipal local or otherwise or any persons whether company or association, partnership or individual, in India or abroad, that may seem conductive to the objects of the Company or any of them and to obtain from any such government, authority. Persons or company any rights, privileges, charters, contracts, licenses or concessions.
- 5. To acquire the whole or any part of the undertaking and assets of any business within the objects of the Company and any lands, privileges, rights, contracts, property or effects held or used in connection therewith, and upon any such purchase to undertake the liabilities of any person whether Company, association, partnership or individual.
- 6. To amalgamate, enter into partnership or into any arrangements for sharing profits, union of interests, co-operation, joint-adventures, or reciprocal concessions or for limiting competition with any person or company carrying on or engaged in or about to carry on or engage in, any business or transaction which the Company in authorised to carry on or engage in or which can be carried on in conjunction therewith or which is capable of being conducted so as to directly or indirectly benefit the Company.
- 7. To apply for, purchase, or otherwise acquire and protect and renew in any part of the world, any patents, patent rights brevets d' invention, licenses, concessions and the like conferring any exclusive or non-exclusive or limited right to their use, or any secret or other information as to any invention which may seem capable of being used for any of the purposes of the Company, or the acquisition of which may seem calculated directly or indirectly to benefit the Company and to use, exercise, develop or grant licenses in respect, or otherwise turn to account the property respect, of or otherwise turn to account the property, rights or information so acquired, and to expend money in experimenting upon, testing or improving any such patents, invention or rights.

- 8. To establish or promote or concur in establishing or promoting any company or companies for the purpose of acquiring all or any of the property, rights and liabilities of the company or for any other purpose which may seem directly or indirectly calculated to benefit the company and to place or guarantee the placing of, underwrite, subscribe for or otherwise acquire all or any part of the shares, debentures, or other securities of any such other Company.
- 9. Generally to purchase take on lease or in exchange, hire, or otherwise acquire, any real or personal property and any rights or privileges which the Company may think necessary or convenient for the purposes of its business or which may enhance the value of any other property of the Company and in particular any land, buildings, factories, casements, machinery, plant, vehicles, and stock-in-trade.
- 10. To build, construct, alter, maintain, enlarge, pull down, remove, or replace, and to work, manage and control any buildings, offices, factories, mills, shops, machinery, engines, roadways, tramways, railways, branches or sidings, bridges, reservoirs, water-courses, wharves, electric works and other works and conveniences, which may seem calculated directly or indirectly to advance the interests of the company and to join with any other person whether company, association, partnership or individual, and doing any of these things.
- 11. To invest and deal with the money of the Company not immediately required in any manner and in particular to accumulate funds or to acquire or take by subscription, purchase or otherwise howsoever or to hold shares or stock in or the security of the company, association or undertaking in India or abroad.
- 12. To lend and advance money or give credit to such companies or other persons and on such terms as may seem expedient, and in particular to customers and others having dealings with the Company and to guarantee the performance of any contract or obligation and the payment of money of or by any such persons and generally to give guarantees and indemnities.
- 13. To receive money on deposits or loan and borrow or raise money in such manner as the Company shall think fit, and in particular by the issue of debentures or debenture stock (perpetual or otherwise) and to secure the repayment of any money borrowed, raised or owing by mortgage, charge or lien upon all or any of the property or assets of the Company (both present and future), including the uncalled capital, and also by a similar mortgage, charge or lien to secure and guarantee the performance by the company or any other company or other person of any obligation undertaken by the company or any other company or other person as the case may be provided that the company shall not carry on the business of banking within the meaning of the Banking Companies Act, 1949.
- 14. To pay for any business, property or rights acquired or agreed to be acquired by the Company and generally to satisfy any obligation of the company by the issue or transfer of shares of this or any other Company credited as fully or partly paid up or of debentures or other securities of this or any other Company.

- 15. To draw, make accept, endorse, discount, execute, and issue promissory notes, bills of exchange, bills of lading warrant, debentures and other negotiable or transferable instruments.
- 16. To pay for any rights or property acquired by the company and to remunerate any person or company whether by cash payment or by the allotment of shares, debentures or other securities of the Company credited as paid up in full or in part or otherwise.
- 17. To pay out of the funds of the company all expenses which the company may lawfully pay with respect to the formation and registration of the company or the issue of its capital, including brokerage and commissions for obtaining applications for or taking placing or underwriting or procuring the underwriting of shares, debentures, or other securities of the company.
- 18. To sell, lease, mortgage or otherwise dispose of the property, assets or undertaking of the company or any pat thereof for such consideration as the company may think fit and, in particular for shares, stock, debentures, or other securities of any other company whether or not having objects altogether or in part similar to those of the company.
- 19. To distribute as dividend, bonus and otherwise among members in kind any property or assets of the company and any shares, debentures or securities of the Company or of other companies, belonging to this company, which this Company may be competent to distribute including capital profits.
- 20. To improve, manage develop, grant rights or privileges in respect of or otherwise deal with all or any part or the property and rights of the Company.
- 21. To establish and maintain or procure the establishment and maintenance of any contributory or non-contributory pensions superannuation funds for the benefit of and give or procure the giving of donations, gratuities, pensions, allowances or emoluments to any person who are or were at any time in the employment or service of the Company or of any Company which is a subsidiary of the Company, or is allied to or associated with the company with any such subsidiary Company or who are or were at any time Directors of Officers of the company or of any such other company as aforesaid, and the wives, widow, families and dependents of any such persons and also establish and subsidies and subscribe to any institutions including in particular, any cafeterias, canteens or clubs or funds calculated to be for the benefit of or to advance the interests and well being of the company or of any such other Company as aforesaid, and make payments to or towards the insurance of any such person as aforesaid and do any of the matters aforesaid, either alone or in conjunction with any other company as aforesaid.
- 22. To subscribe or contribute or otherwise assist or to grant money to charitable, benevolent, religious, scientific, national, pubic or any other useful institutions, organisations, objects or purposes or for any exhibitions. The Company shall not contribute to any political party purpose.
- 23. To procure the Company to be registered or recognised in any part the world outside India.

- 24. To create any depreciation fund, reserve fund, sinking fund or any other special fund whether for depreciation or for preparing, improving, extending or maintaining any of the properties of the Company or for any other purpose conductive to the interests of the Company.
- 25. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, to place to reserve or to distribute as dividend or bonus among the members, or otherwise to apply, as the Company may from time to time think fit, any moneys received by way or premium on shares or debentures issued at a premium by the Company, and any money received in respect of dividends accrued on forfeited shares or from unclaimed dividends.
- 26. To establish, provide, maintain and conduct or otherwise subsidies research laboratories and experimental workshops for scientific and technical research and experiments; to undertake and carry on scientific and technical researches, experiments and tests of all kinds; to promote studies and researches, both scientific and technical, investigations and inventions by providing subsidising, endowing or assisting laboratories, workshops, libraries, lecturers, meetings and conference and by providing contributing to the remunerations of scientific or technical professors or teachers and by providing or contribution to the award of scholarships, prizes, grants to students or otherwise and generally to encourage, promote and reward studies, researches, investigations experiments tests and generally to encourage, promote and reward studies, researches, investigations experiments, tests and inventions of any kind that may be considered likely to assist any business which the Company is authorised to carry on.
- 27. To establish, maintain and operate technical training institutions and hostels for technical staff of all categories or the Company and to make such other arrangements that may be expedient for the training of all categories of officers, workers, clerks, technical and other personnel likely to be useful to or assist in any business which the Company is authorised to carry on.
- 28. To establish, maintain and operate general educational institutions and hostels for the benefits of the children of the employees or ex employees of the Company, their dependents or connections of such persons and others and to make grants and award and grant scholarship.
- 29. To take part in the management, supervision or control of the business or operations of any company or undertaking, and for that purpose to appoint and remunerate any Directors, Accountants or other experts or Agents:
- 30. To undertake and execute any trusts, the undertaking whereof may seem desirable and whether gratuitously or otherwise.
- 31. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, or any other enactment in force, to indemnify and keep indemnified members, officers, directors, agents and servants of the Company against proceedings, costs, damages, claims and demands in respect of anything done or ordered to be done by them for and in the interests of the Company and for any loss, damage or misfortune whatever and which shall happen in executions of the duties of their office or in relation thereto.
- 32. To insure against losses, damages, risk and liabilities of any kind which may affect the Company either wholly or partially.

- 33. To apply for, promote and obtain Act of Parliament, charter, privileges, concession, license or authorisation of any government, state or municipality provisional order of license of any authority for enabling the Company to carry and of its objects into effect or for extending any of the powers of the Company or for effecting any modification of the constitution of the Company or for any other purpose which may seem calculated directly or indirectly to prejudice interest of the Company.
- 34. To own and operate transport vehicles and vesséls for transporting all raw materials, finished products and other goods and things required dealt in or manufactured by the Company.
- 35. (1) To undertake, carry out, lay out, promote, sponsor guarantee or assist in any activity, project for rural development including any programme for promoting the social and economic welfare of or the upliftment of the people in any rural area irrespective of whether the Company has any business dealings in such areas or not and to incur any expenditure or use any of the assets and facilities of the Company on any programme or project or activity of rural development and to assist execution and promotion thereof either directly or in association with any other Company or persons or organisation or through a Trust or Society or an independent agency or in any manner as the Company may deem fit in order to implement any of the projects or programmes or activities of rural development, transfer or lease at such fair or concessional value and divest the ownership of the property of the Company to or in favour of any public or local body, authority, central or state government or any public institution or trust or fund.
 - (2) To undertake, carry out, layout, promote, sponsor, guarantee or assist any activity or project either directly or in association with any other Company or person or organisation or through a trust, society or other independent agency which is likely:
 - (i) To promote national welfare or social economic or moral upliftment of the society, people or any section of the society or people and in particular charitable, educational, scientific, religious, benevolent, cultural or any other activity.
 - (ii) To promote and improve national economy and for discharging what is considered to be social and moral responsibilities of the company to the public or society or any purpose or object stated herein, transfer or lease at such fair or concessional value and divest the ownership of any property or the company to or in favour of any public or local body or authority or central or state Government or any public institution or society or trust or fund as the Directors may approve.

Added Vide AGM resolution dated 22nd July, 1998.

C. Other objects of the Company:-

 To carry on the business of manufacturers, refiners, importers, exporters, buyers and sellers, merchants and agents for the suppliers and hirers of oils, lubricants greases, spirits, petrol, high speed diesel, kerosene oil, gas, electricity and other motive powers.

- 2. To carry on the business of manufacturers, importers, exporters, buyers and sellers and merchants and agents for and suppliers of horns, lamps, bulbs, spares, spare-parts and accessories, required or necessary in the automobile industry.
- 3. To carry on business of manufacturers, fabricators, processors, producers, importers, exporters, buyers, sellers, suppliers, stockiest, agents, merchants, distributors and dealers in chemicals, fibrous, plastics, distillates and precipitates.
- 4. To carry on the business of chemists, druggists, dry salters, oil and colour men, importers and manufacturers of and dealers in pharmaceutical, medicinal, chemical, industrial and other preparations and articles, compounds, cements, oil, paints, pigments and varnishes, drug, dyeware paint and colour grinders, makers of and dealers in proprietary articles of all kinds, and of electrical, chemical, photographical, surgical and scientific apparatus and materials.
- 5. To carry on the business of planters, growers and cultivators of gultaprcha, timber, wood and other products of the soil and to treat, prepare, render marketable, but sell and dispose of any products, either in their raw or manufactured state.
- 6. To carry on the business of iron founder, mechanical engineers and manufacturers of machinery, tool-makers, brass founders, metal workers, boiler-makers, mill-wrights, mechanists, iron and steel converters, smiths, wood-workers, builders, painters, metallurgists, electrical engineers, water-supply engineers, gas-makers and to buy, sell, manufacture, repair, convert manufacture, alter, let on hire, and deal in machinery, implements, rolling stock and hardware of all kinds.
- 7. To act as agents or brokers and as trustees for any person or company and to undertake and perform sub-contracts, and to do all or part of the above things in any part of the world and either as principals, agents, trustees, contractors or otherwise and either alone jointly with others and either by or through agents, sub-contractors, trustees or otherwise.
- 8. To carry on the business of manufacturers, fabricators, contractors, processors, producer, makers, importers, exporters, buyers, sellers, suppliers, stockists, agents growers, merchants, distributors and concessionaires of, dealers in and providers of services of and in connection with goods, products and commodities of all or any of the following kinds:-
 - (a) Chemicals and pharmaceuticals-both bulk drugs and formulations in all or any forms, vitamins and vitamin products, tonics, hormones and hormone products, cosmetics of all kinds and medicinal preparations required or used for beauty, personal hygiene and prophylactics, medical utilities of all kinds and descriptions, all kinds of orthopedic and surgical goods, medical, diagnostic, curative and prophylactic equipment and machinery of all types and description and spare parts and services thereof.
 - (b) All types of organic and inorganic chemicals, synthetics and petrochemicals of all kinds and description-basic, intermediate or otherwise-in all their variations, forms and derivatives and their products, by-products including derivatives from gas and ancillary products alkalis and acids, goods, compounds, fertilizers and all types of chemical products.

- Foods, processed foods and food products of all kinds and forms, in any formsnatural, processed, canned, bottled, packaged or otherwise, ready to serve, cook
 and eat, semi-cooked, ready to make, hot or cold-dairymen, dairy products and
 their derivatives and by-products of all kinds and description, fruits, dry fruits and
 fruit products in all forms, pickles, condiments and other preserved foods,
 vegetable, oils, ghee, vanaspati, or other similar products, vegetables-fresh, dry,
 frozen or preserve-brewers, manufacturers and refiners of all foods and food
 products, wines, spirits, beers, malts, yeasts, aerated waters, non-alcoholic
 drinks, beverages and mineral water and their products in all forms, flavours,
 essences, preservatives, used in any food or food preparations.
- (d) All types of electronic storage devices, magnetic tapes-audio and video-flexible and rigid discs for computer and other electronic equipments and devices, communication and information transfer equipments such as telephone, telex, facsimile and other forms of communications, electronic controls and control system, computers, computer modules, hardware, printers, plotters and all other input and output devices all other types of electronics and scientific gadgets and equipments such as microprocessor system memories, solar and electric equipment and all types of business machines.
- (e) Plastics and plastic products, synthetic resins, natural resins and resin products and polymers and products of all kinds and descriptions, celluloid films and celluloid products and chemicals, pulps and other raw materials required for the manufacture, processing and fabrication of plastic, celluloid and similar other products.
- (f) Yarn and fabrics, synthetics, cotton, silk, rayon, nylon, wool, jute, hemp, and other natural synthetic and/or fibrous substances including staple fibre, polyesters, polyacrylonitrile, polyvinyl acetate, elastomers and resins of all types and grades, and polymer formulations and forms or as processed goods including polyethylene, polystyrenes, polyvinylchloride, polymethys, methacryatem, epoxy resins, alkyd resins, malanine, polycarbonates, polyamides or any other or new substance being improvements upon, modifications of, or being derived from additions to petro chemicals or other products, or resulting from any process and/ or manufacture of material from the waste realised from the above mentioned products either on its own account or on commission.
- (g) Steel tubes, pipes, ceramic, refractory and plastic (such as PVC, PE, bakelite, urea formaldehyde) such as fibre glass, glass wool, fire clay, refractories, insulation's, cement of all types; glass chinawares, porcelain wares, earthenwares, stonewares, terracotta, plastic moulding and extrusions and all types of any such class such as crockerywares, tablewares, glasswares, figures and statues, artificial teeth, electrical insulators, sanitary wares, glazed or unglazed tiles, laboratory, hospital and industrial requisites, sparking plugs, drainage and water supply pipes, refractory and insulation cements, bricks and other shapes and linings and all other types and kinds or any class of plastic, heavy clay and ceramic products.

- (h) Electrical and other appliances, cables, wire-lines, dry-cells, accumulators, lamps and works and to generate, accumulate, distribute and supply electricity for the purpose of light, heat, motive power and for all other purposes for which electrical energy can be employed, all apparatus and things required for or capable of being used in connection with the generation, distribution, supply, accumulations and employment of electricity, including in the term electricity all power that may be directly derived there from or may be incidentally hereafter discovered in dealing with electricity.
- (i) Ferrous and non-ferrous metal, its smelting, special alloy steel castings, all types of special alloy, for steels, high speed steel/ heat resistant steel, stainless steel, steel rounds, flats, ferrochromes and charge chrome, machine tools including gear cutting machines, refractories, foundries, oil and steel tools, furnace oil and lubricants run mills for manufacture of these items, rolling mills, and in preparing the steel to put in rolling mills-hot and cold-and also to deal in the spares, accessories and other parts of these items and also to do the business as plant and machinery or technology suppliers of these items.
- (j) Motor trucks, motor cars, motor buses, motor wagons, motor vans, motor jeeps, motorcycles, scooters, mopeds, motor launches, trolleys, trailers, light commercial vehicles amphibious vehicles, transportation vehicles and machines and other vehicles and conveyances capable of being operated with any motive power and for use on land, sea or air, automotive ancillary parts, all types of engines, material handling, earth-moving and agricultural machines and vehicles, petrol and diesel engines, tools, plants, tractors, equipments, spares, appliances, implements, accessories, mobile or otherwise.
- (k) All kinds of pulp including sulphite and sulphate, wood pulp, mechanical pulp and soda pulp and paper, including transparent vellum, writing, printing, glazed, absorbent, newsprinting, wrapping, tissue, cover, blotting, filter, bank of bond, badami, brown, buff or coloured, wove, lines, azure, laid, grass or waterproof handmade parchment, drawing, craft, carbon, envelope, and box and straw duplex and triplex boards and all kinds of articles in the manufacture of which in any form pulp, paper or boards is used, and also to deal in or manufacture artificial leather of all varieties, grades and colours.
- (I) Mica, mice paper, micanite, flexible micanites and mica paper products and byproducts plant, insulating products, resins, laminates, decorative materials, wood and all wood related products, packages and containers, lime limestone, cement, cement pipers and all types of cement products including prefabricated goods and asbestos.
- (m) Shoes and footwear of all types and kinds, cigarettes and tobacco products and pan masala, tea, tea seed and coffee.
- To carry on the business of hotel, restaurant, cafe, tavern, beer-house, refreshment-room and lodging-house keepers, licensed victuallers, wine, beer and spirit merchants, brewers, malters, distillers, importers and manufacturers of aearted, mineral and artificial

water and other drinks, purveyor, cinemas and show business caterers for public amusements generally, proprietors of motor and other vehicles, garage proprietors, livery stab keeper, jobmasters, dairymen, ice-merchants, importers, and brokers of food, live and dead stock, and local and foreign produce of all descriptions, hair-dressers, perfumers, chemists, proprietors of clubs, baths, dressing rooms, laundries, reading, writing and news paper rooms, libraries, grounds and place of amusement, recreation, sport, entertainment and instruction of all kinds, tobacco and cigar merchants, agents for railway, shipping and air-plane companies and carriers, cinema, theatrical and opera box proprietors.

- 10. To undertake and carry on the business of drilling for oil, gas and energy exploration and production and to engage in providing all services, both onshore and offshore, related to the business of drilling for exploration of oil, gas and energy, such as diving, wall repair and work over services, geophysical assist or encourage collection, maintenance and publication of statistics and bulletins and to undertake engineering construction and other related activities involved in aiding the exploration, processing and production of oil, gas and energy from land or sea and to purchase, acquire or otherwise deal in all such related items required for the exploration, processing, refining and otherwise dealing of oil, gas and energy.
- *11. To acquire and hold shares, stocks, debentures, debenture stocks, bonds, obligations and securities issued or guaranteed by any company constituted or carrying on business in India or elsewhere or by any government, sovereign ruler, commissioners, public body or authority, supreme, municipal, local or otherwise, whether at home or abroad and to acquire these by original subscription, tender, purchase, exchange or otherwise and to subscribe for the same, either conditionally or otherwise and to guarantee for subscription thereof and to exercise and enforce all rights and posers conferred by or incidental to the ownership thereof.
- *12. To carry on business of an electric power, light, and supply company in all its branches in accordance with the law in force for the time being.
- *13. To carry on the business as printers and publishers, producers, distributors, exhibitors and leasing and financing of films, records, pre-recorded tapes and discs, newspapers, books and journals.
- *14. To carry on the business of advisory, technical, managerial or other consultancy, finance, hire purchase, leasing of all kinds and descriptions and to finance leasing operations of all kinds.
- *15. To undertake and carry on the business of construction activities of all types including industrial complexes, industrial estates, dams, bridges, housing as also manufacture and dealer of construction materials of all kinds and elements.
- *16. To acquire by purchase, lease, exchange, hire sale or otherwise develop of operate land farmhouses, buildings, and hereditaments of any tenure or description and any estate or interest thereon and also to carry on real estate business.

- #17. (a) To carry on the business of Registrars, Transfer agents, Manager to the issue of various kinds of securities, bonds and computer Data centre and the like and also to provide consultancy in the field of Computer Technology and Computer Data processing and installation of computer system and data collection, processing and distribution technologies.
 - (b) To establish and run service centres for Computer Data processing and related computer jobs. To provide Computer education, buy and sell various Computer Equipment, software, hardware and to carry on research and developmental activities in the field of computer application.
 - (c) To buy, sell, manufacture, import and export computer software and hardware and to render on lease/hire purchase/rent Computer software and hardware and all other electronic devices whatsoever used for computer operators and Data processing and Developing of Electronic Data.
 - (* Amended vide Company Law Board Order dt. 24.04.1992)
 - (# Inserted vide Company Law Board Order dt. 07.04.1994)
- IV. The liability of the members is limited.
- V. The Authorised Share Capital of the Company is:

Rs.1575,00,00,000/- (Rupees One Thousand Five Hundred Seventy Five Crores only) divided into 75,00,00,000 (Seventy Five Crores) equity shares of Re.1/- each and 15,00,00,000 (Fifteen Crores only) Preference Shares of Rs. 100/- each with power to increase or decrease the capital, to divide the share in the capital for the time being, into several classes and to attach thereto respectively such preferential, deferred, qualified, or special rights, privileges or conditions, as may be determined by or in accordance with the regulations of the Company and to vary, modify or abrogate such rights, privileges or conditions in such manner as may, for the time being, be provided by the regulations of the Company and consolidate or subdivide these shares and issue shares of higher or lower denominations."

(Amended vide members resolution dated 23.03.2020)

We the several persons whose names and addresses are subscribed and desirous of being formed into a Company in pursuance of this Memorandum of Association and we receptively agreed to take the number of shares in the capital of the Company set opposite our respective name.

	Names, Addresses, Description and Occupation of Subscribers	No. of Equity Shares taken by each Subscriber	Signature
۱.	JOSE A. KALLIVAYÄLIL, Son of K.C. Abraham, Planter, Mundakayam, Kerla Planter	11	(Sd.)
	P.M. ANTONY, Son of late Mr. P.J. Mathew, Villa Vacha No. 10 Ist Main Road, Kasturba Nagar, Madras-20 Industrialist	11	(Sd.)
	MATHEW T. MARATTURALAM, Son of late Chacko Thomas, Ruby Nagar, Changanacherry, Kerla Industrialist	11	(Sd.)
	THOMAS VARGHESE, Son of Sri K.T. Varghese, Kalaikattil, Vallamkulam, Tiruvalla, Kerla Doctor of Medicine	11	(Sd.)
	A.K. THAMPY, Son of A. Abraham, I-D, First, St. Thirumurtinagar, Madras – 34 Industrialist	11	(Sd.)
	JACOB THOMAS, Son of K.C. Thomas, Kalapurackal, Kottayam- 1 Industrialist	11	(Sd.)
	ABRAHAM THARAKAN, Son of P.A.K. Tharakan, 195- C, Krishnaswamy Cross Road, Kochi – 11 Business Executive	. 11	(Sd.)
	TOTAL	77	Seventy Seven

Dated this the 10 day of September 1972.
Witness to the above Signatures:
P. P. ROCKEY,
Son of Palaparambil Philipose,
Advocate's Clerk,
XXXIX/968, Emakulam,

Kochi-17

(Sd.)

THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

OF

APOLLO TYRES LIMITED

(THE NEW SET OF ARTICLES ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE MEMBERS ON SEPTEMBER 24, 2020 THROUGH POSTAL BALLOT)

These Articles are divided into Part A and Part B and at all times Part B shall, to the extent contrary, supersede the provisions of Part A. All documents, schedules, annexures and exhibits hereby referred to, shall be deemed to be part of these Articles and shall be incorporated by way of reference.

PART A

CONSTITUTION OF THE COMPANY

1. Constitution

The regulations contained in Table F in the Schedule I to the Companies Act, 2013 including amendment(s) made thereto, if any, shall not apply to this Company, except in so far as the same are repeated, contained or expressly made applicable in these Articles. In case of any contradiction between the regulations contained in these Articles and Table F, the Articles shall prevail. The regulations for the management of the Company and for the observance by the Members thereto and their representatives, shall, subject to any exercise of the statutory powers of the Company with reference to the repeal or alteration of, or addition to the regulations by a resolution or otherwise as prescribed or permitted by the Companies Act, 2013, be such as are contained in these Articles.

INTERPRETATION CLAUSE

2. Interpretation

In these presents the following words expressions shall have the following meanings unless excluded by the subject or context:-

- (a) "The Act" of "The Companies Act" shall mean "The Companies Act 2013" and any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force.
- (b) "The Board" or "the Board of Director" in relation to the Company, means the collective body of the Directors of the Company.
- (c) "The Company" or "this Company" means "APOLLO TYRES LIMITED"
- (d) "Director" means a Director appointed to the Board of the Company.

- (e) "Financial Statement" in relation to a Company, includes:
 - I. a balance sheet as at the end of the financial year;
 - II. a profit and loss account, or in the case of a company carrying on any activity not for profit, an income and expenditure account for the financial year;
 - III. cash flow statement for the financial year;
 - IV. a statement of changes in equity, if applicable; and
 - V. any explanatory note annexed to, or forming part of, any document referred to in sub clause (i) to sub-clause (iv)
- f) "key managerial personnel", in relation to the Company, means—
 - I. the Chief Executive Officer or the Managing Director or the Manager;
 - II. the Company Secretary;
 - III. the Whole-Time Director:
 - IV. the Chief Financial Officer;
 - V. such other officer, not more than one level below the Directors who is in whole-time employment, designated Key Managerial Personnel by the Board; and
- VI. such other officer as may be prescribed under the Act and rules framed there under:
- (g) "Written" and "In writing" includes printing, lithography, typewriting, electronic and other modes of representing or reproducing words in a visible form and any other usual substitutes for writing.
- (h) "Member", in relation to the Company, means-
 - I. the subscriber to the Memorandum of the Company who shall be deemed to have agreed to become Member of the Company, and on its registration, shall be entered as Member in its Register of Members;
 - II. every other person who agrees in writing to become Member of the Company and whose name is entered in the Register of Members of the Company; and
- III. every person holding shares of the Company and whose name is entered as a Beneficial owner in the records of a depository.
- "Beneficial owner" means the beneficial owner as defined in the Depositories Act.
- (i) "Month" means a Calendar month.
- (k) "Paid-up" shall include "credited as paid-up".
- (I) "Person" or "Persons" shall include a Company, Firm, Hindu Undivided Family, Body Corporate, Corporations as well as individuals.

- (m) "These Presents" or "These Regulations" or "These Articles" shall mean these Articles of Associations as now framed or altered from time to time and shall include the Memorandum where the context so requires.
- (n) "The Register" means the Register of Members, including a foreign register, kept pursuant to the Act.
- (o) "The Seal" means the Common Seal for the time being of the Company.
- (p) Words importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender and vice versa.
 - Except where the context otherwise requires words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa.
- (q) "Company Secretary" or "Secretary" means a Company Secretary as defined in clause (c) of sub-section (1) of Section 2 of the Company Secretaries Act, 1980 who is appointed by a Company to perform the functions of a Company Secretary under this Act.
- (r) "Depositories Act" means The Depositories Act, 1996 or any statutory modification or re-enactment thereof, for the time being in force.
- (s) "Depository" means a Depository as defined in the Depositories Act.
- (t) "Office" means the registered office for the time being of the Company.
- (u) "Rules" means the Rules framed under the Act.
- (v) "Applicable Law(s)" mean all laws, by-laws, rules, regulations, orders, ordinances, protocols, codes, guidelines, policies, notices, directions, judgments, decrees or other requirements or official directive of any governmental authority or person acting under the authority of any Governmental Authority and/ or of any statutory authority in India, and specifically including, the Securities & Exchange Board of India and/ or of a Stock Exchange, as may be amended from time to time and as applicable on the Company.
- (w) Secretarial Standards means the Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India and notified by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, under the Companies Act, 2013, from time to time.
- (x) Securities shall have the same meaning as defined under the Companies Act, 2013.
- (y) Unless the context otherwise requires, Words and expressions contained in these Articles shall bear the same meeting as in the Act or the Rules, as the case may be. Words and expressions used and not defined in the Companies Act, 2013 but defined in the Depositories Act, 1996 shall have the same meaning respectively assigned to them in that Act.
- (z) The headings and marginal notes hereto are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof.

CAPITAL

3. Share Capital

3.1 The Authorised Share Capital of the Company shall be such amount and be divided into such share as may, from time to time, be provided in Clause V of the Memorandum of Association of the Company with power to Board of Directors to increase or decrease the capital, to divide the share in the capital for the time being into several classes and to attach thereto respectively such preferential, deferred, qualified, or special rights, privileges or conditions, as may be determined by or in accordance with the regulations of the Company and to vary, modify or abrogate such rights, privileges or conditions in such manner as may, for the time being, be provided by the regulations of the Company and consolidate or subdivide these shares and issue shares of higher or lower denominations.

BUSINESS

4. Power of Company to purchase its own securities

Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Board of Directors are authorised to purchase from time to time such quantity or quantities of the Securities of the Company, whether or not they are redeemable, at such rate(s) and on such terms as the Board may deem proper and make payment(s) for such purchases.

5. Further issue of Capital

- 5.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act and these Articles, the shares in the capital of the Company for the time being (including any shares forming part of any increased capital of the Company) shall be under the control of the Board, and it may issue, allot or otherwise dispose of the same or any one of them to such persons on such proportion and on such terms and conditions and either at a premium or at par or (subject to compliance with the provisions of Section 54 of the Act) and at such times as they may from time to time think fit and proper and with the sanction of the Company in General Meeting (if required) to give to any person the option to call for or be allotted shares of any class of the Company either at par or at premium or during such time and for such consideration and such option being exercisable at such times as the Directors think fit and may allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company in lieu of services rendered to the Company or in the conduct of its business; and any shares which may be so allotted may be issued as fully paid up shares and if so issued shall be deemed to be fully paid up shares.
- 5.2 (1) Where the Company proposed to increase its subscribed Share Capital by the issue of new Shares, such new shares shall be offered:
 - to the persons who, at the date of the offer ,are holders of the Equity Shares of the Company, in proportion, as nearly as circumstances admit to the capital paidup on these Shares at that date;
 - (a) the offer aforesaid shall be made by notice specifying the number of Shares offered and limiting a time not being less than fifteen days and not exceeding thirty days from the date of the offer within which the offer, if not accepted, will be deemed to have been declined;

- (b) the offer aforesaid shall be deemed to include a right exercisable by the person concerned to renounce the Shares offered to him or any of them in favour of any other person; and the notice shall contain a statement of this right;
- (c) after the expiry of the time specified in the notice aforesaid or on receipt of earlier intimation from the person to whom such notice is given that he declines to accept the Shares offered, the Board may dispose of them in such manner which is not dis-advantageous to the Shareholders and the Company.
- (ii) to employees under a scheme of employees' stock option, subject to Special Resolution passed by the Company and subject to such conditions as may be specified in the relevant Rules.
- (iii) to any persons, by way of passing a Special Resolution to that effect, whether or not those persons include the persons referred herein above, either for cash or for a consideration other than cash,
- (2) Whenever any Shares are to be offered to the Members, the Board may dispose of any such Shares which, by reason of the proportion borne by them to the number of persons entitled to such offer or by reason of any other difficulty in apportioning the same cannot in the opinion of the Board be conveniently offered to the Members.

6. Preference Shares

Subject to the provisions of the Act, any preference shares may, be issued on the terms that they are, or at the option of the Company are liable, to be redeemed or converted on such terms and in such manner as the Company, before the issue of the preference shares, may determine.

7. Variation of rights

The rights attached to any class of shares (unless otherwise provided by the terms of the issue of the shares of that class) may, subject to the provisions of the Act, be varied with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-fourth of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the issued shares of that class, to every such separate meeting, the provisions of these Articles relating to general meetings shall mutatis mutandis apply, except that the necessary quorum shall be two persons at least holding or representing by proxy one-third of the issued shares of that class.

8. Issue of further shares pari passu shall not affect the right of shares already issued

The rights conferred upon the holders of the shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided for by terms of issue of the shares of that class, be deemed to be varied by the creation of further shares ranking pari passu therewith.

9. Issue of shares with differential rights

The Company may issue shares and quasi equity instruments with differential rights, as to dividend, voting or otherwise in accordance with such Rules as may be prescribed, or hybrids, derivatives and options as may be allowed under the Act or Rules.

10. Power to Pay Commission

Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Company may at any time pay commission to any person for subscribing or agreeing-to subscribe (whether absolutely or conditionally) for any Securities of the Company or procuring or agreeing to procure subscriptions (whether absolute or conditional) for any Securities of the Company. The commission payable shall not exceed the rates prescribed under the Act .The commission may be satisfied by the payment of cash or the allotment of fully or partly paid Securities or partly in one way and partly in the other.

11. Trust not recognised

Save as otherwise provided by these Articles, the Company shall be entitled to treat the registered holder of any shares or debentures as the absolute owner thereof and accordingly the Company shall not, except as ordered by a Court. of competent jurisdiction or by the Statute required, be bound to recognise any equitable, contingent, future or partial interest, lien, pledge, or charge in any shares or debentures or (except only as by these presents otherwise provided for) any other right in respect of any share or debenture except an absolute right to the entirely thereof in the registered holder.

12. Acceptance of shares

An application signed by or on behalf of the applicant for shares in the Company followed by an allotment of any shares therein, shall be acceptance of the shares within the meaning of these Articles; and every person who thus or otherwise accept the shares and whose name is on the Register shall for the purpose of these Articles be a member.

SHARE CERTIFICATES

13. Rights of certificates

- 13.1 (1) Every person whose name is entered as a member in the register and who has opted to hold shares in physical form shall be entitled to receive without payment.
 - (a) One certificate for all his shares;
 - (b) several certificates, each for one or more of his shares, upon payment of such fees/charges as may be fixed by the Board for each certificate after the first.

Every certificate of shares shall be either issued under the Seal of the Company and signed by (i) two directors or (ii) by a director and the Company Secretary, or (iii) in any other manner as may be permitted by the Act and shall specify the number and distinctive numbers of shares in respect of which it is issued and amount paid-up thereon.

A Director or Company Secretary may sign a share certificate by affixing signature thereon by means of any machine, equipment or other mechanical means such as engraving in metal or lithography but not by means of rubber stamp.

(2) Subject to Applicable Law, the Company, shall within two months after the allotment of any of its shares, and six months after the allotment of any debentures or debenture-stock or Securities, and within one month after the application for the registration of the transfer or transmission of any shares, debentures or debenture-stock or Securities have completed and have ready for delivery the certificates of all shares, the debentures and the certification of all debenture-stock allotted or transferred, unless the conditions of issue of the shares, debentures of debenture-stock or Securities otherwise provide.

14. Dematerialization

- 14.1 (1) The holders of any securities issued or to be issued by the Company may hold such securities in the dematerialized form in accordance with the provisions of the Depositories Act, 1996, and any Regulations and/or Guidelines issued by SEBI in this regard from time to time.
 - (2)(a) A member of the Company can get the Securities held by him dematerialized and rematerialized.
 - (b) Subject to Applicable Laws, every person subscribing to securities offered by the Company shall have the option to receive Security Certificate or to hold the securities with a depository. Such a person who is the Beneficial owner of the securities can at any time opt out of a depository, if permitted by the law, in respect of any security in the manner provided by the Depositories Act, 1996 and the Company shall, in the manner and within the time prescribed, issue to the beneficial owner the required certificate of securities.
 - (3) The Depository shall hold the dematerialized securities in the fungible form.
 - (4) The Depository shall be deemed to be the registered owner for the purpose of effecting transfer of ownership of dematerialized securities held by it on behalf of the beneficial owner.
 - (5) The Depository, as a registered owner of the securities, shall not have any voting rights or any other right in respect of the securities held by it.
 - (6) Every person holding shares of the Company and whose name is entered as a beneficial owner in respect of those shares in the records of the Depository shall be deemed to be a member of the Company. A beneficial owner of the shares shall be entitled to all the rights including voting rights and benefits and be subject to all the liabilities in respect of his shares held by a depository on his behalf.
 - (7) The Depository shall provide the record in respect of transfer of securities of the Company, the particulars of beneficial owners of such securities at such intervals and in such manner as may be prescribed by the bye laws of the Depository.

- (8) The Register and Index of beneficial owners in respect of the securities of the Company, maintained by a depository shall be deemed to be the Register and Index of Members and Security holders of the Company.
- (9) The Company shall intimate to the Depository the details of securities issued by it from time to time immediately on allotment of such securities.
- 14.2 The Company shall recognize the Beneficial Owners as the absolute owners of the securities of the Company whose names appear in the records of the Depository as the holders of such securities in respect of the receipt of dividend or bonus or service of notices and all or any other matters connected therewith. The Company shall not, except as ordered by a Court of competent jurisdiction or as by law required, be bound to recognize any benami trust or equity or equitable, contingent or other claim to or interest in such share on the part of any other person whether or not it shall have express or implied notice thereof.

15. Certificate for joint holders

15.1 In respect of any share or shares held jointly by several persons, the Company shall not be bound to issue more than one Certificate for the same shares or share and the delivery of a certificate for the share or shares to one of several joint holders shall be sufficient delivery to all such holders; subject as aforesaid, where more than one share is so held, the joint holders shall be entitled to apply jointly for the issue of several Certificates in accordance with these Articles.

16. First named joint holder deemed sole holder.

- 16.1 If any share stands in the names of 2 (two) or more persons, the person first named in the Register shall, as regards receipt of dividends, service of notices and other documents and, subject to the provision of these Articles, all or any other matter connected with the Company, except voting at meetings, transfer of the share(s) and any other matter provided in the Act or Rules, be deemed the sole holder thereof.
- 16.2 The provisions of these Articles with respect to the joint holders shall apply mutatis mutandis to all other securities of the Company, whether issued in physical or dematerialised form unless otherwise provided in the Act or Rules.

17. Renewal of certificate

17.1 If a certificate be worn out, defaced, destroyed, or lost, or if there is no further space on the back thereof for endorsements of transfer, it shall, if required, be replaced by a new certificate on payment of fee, not exceeding such fee as prescribed under the Act or decided by the Board, if so required by the Board, provided however that such new certificate shall not be granted except upon delivery of the worn out or defaced or used-up certificate, for the purpose of cancellation, or upon proof or destruction or loss, on such terms as to evidence, advertisement and indemnity and the payment of out-of-pocket expenses as the Board may, require in the case of the certificate upon been defaced, destroyed or lost. Any renewed certificate shall be marked as such. The Board may if thinks fit, can relax any condition given in this Article.

18. Splitting and consolidating of Share Certificate

Any registered holder of the shares being in possession of any share certificate(s) for the time being, may surrender such share certificate(s) to the Company and apply to the Company for the issue of two or more fresh share certificates comprising the same shares bearing the same distinctive numbers as were comprised in the said certificates and in such separate lots as he may desire, provided such certificates are not below marketable lot except where required under legal provisions. In lieu of and in cancellation of such share certificates so surrendered or for the consolidation of the shares comprised in such surrendered certificates into one certificate and the Directors, may, in lieu of and in cancellation of certificates so surrendered, issue one or more such share certificates one each for marketable lot and one for the balance in the name of the person or person in whose name the original certificate stood and the new certificates so issued shall be delivered to the person who surrendered the original certificates or to his order.

CALLS ON SHARES

19. Calls

19.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Board may, from time to time, make such calls as they think fit upon the members in respect of all money unpaid on the shares held by them respectively whether on account of the nominal value of the share or by way of premium and not by the conditions of allotment thereof made payable at fixed times, and the members shall pay the amount of every call so made on them to the person and at the time and place appointed by the Board.

20. Length of Notice of Call

20.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act, not less than twenty-one day's notice of any call shall be given specifying the time and place of payment and the person to whom such payment shall be made provided that before the time for payment of such calls the Board may, by notice in writing to the members, extend the time for payment thereof.

21. Sums payable in fixed installments to deemed calls

21.1 If by the terms of issue of any share or otherwise any amount is made payable at any fixed time or by installments at fixed times whether on account of the nominal value of the share or by way or premium, every such amount or installment shall be payable as if it were a call duly made by the Board, of which due notice had been given, and all the provisions herein contained in respect of calls shall relate and apply to such amount or installment accordingly.

22. When installment on calls payable

22.1 If a sum called in respect of the shares is not paid on or before the day appointed for payment thereof, the person from whom the sum is due shall pay interest upon the sum at such rate of interest as the Board may decide from the day appointed for the payment thereof to the time of the actual payment, but the Board shall be at liberty to waive payment of that interest wholly or in part.

23. Interest on sums payable at fixed time

23.1 The provisions of these Articles as to payment of interest shall apply in the case of non-payment of any sum which, by the term of issue of share, becomes payable at affixed time, whether on account of the nominal amount of the share or by way of premium, as if the same had become payable by virtue of call duly made and notified. The Board shall be at liberty to waive payment of any such interest wholly or in part.

24. Payment of call in advance

24.1 The Board may, if they think fit, receive from any member willing to advance all or any part of the money uncalled and unpaid upon any share held by him and upon all or any part of the moneys so advanced may (until the same would, but for such advance become presently payable) pay interest at such rates as the Board may decide but shall not in respect such advances confer a right to the dividend or to participate in profits or to any voting rights.

25. Partial payment not to preclude forfeiture

25.1 Neither a judgment nor a decree in favour of the Company for call or other moneys due in respect of any shares nor any part payment or satisfaction thereunder nor the receipt by the Company of a portion of any money which shall from time to time be due from any member in respect of any share either by way of principle or interest nor any indulgence granted by the Company in respect of payment of any such money shall preclude the Company from thereafter proceeding to enforce a forfeiture of such shares as hereinafter provided.

26. Persons by whom installments are payable

- 26.1 If, by the conditions of allotment of any share, the whole or part of the amount or issue price thereof shall be payable by installments, every such instalment shall, when due, be paid to the Company by the person who for the time being and from time to time shall be the registered holder of the share or his legal representative or representatives, if any.
- 26.2 Any money due from the Company to a shareholder may, without the consent of such shareholder, be applied by the Company in or towards payment of any money due from him, either alone or jointly with any other persons to the Company in respect of calls.

27. Liability of joint holders of shares

27.1 The joint holders of a share or shares shall be severally as well as jointly liable for the payment of all installments and calls interest and expenses, if any due in respect of such share or shares.

LIEN

28. Company's lien on shares

28.1 The Company shall have a first and paramount lien upon all shares other than fully paid up shares registered in the name of any member, either alone and jointly with any other person and upon the proceeds of sale thereof for all moneys called or payable, at a fixed

time in respect of such lien shall extend to all dividends from time of time declared in respect of such shares. But the Board at any time may declare any shares to be exempt, wholly or partially, from the provisions of this Article.

29. Enforcing of lien by sale

29.1 For the purpose of enforcing such lien, the Board may sell the shares subject thereto in such manner as they think fit, but no sale shall be made until the expiration of fourteen days after a notice in writing stating and demanding payment of such part of the amount in respect of which the lien exists or is presently payable has been given to the registered holder of the shares for the time being or to the person entitled to the shares by reason of the death or insolvency of the registered holder.

30. Authority to transfer

30.1 To give effect to such sale, the Board may authorise any person to transfer the shares sold to the purchaser thereof and the purchaser shall be registered as the holder of the shares comprised in such transfer. The purchaser shall neither be bound to see to the application of the purchase money, nor shall his title to the shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the sale.

31. Application for proceeds of sale

- 31.1 The net proceeds of any such sale shall be applied towards satisfaction of the said moneys due from the member and the balance, if any shall be paid to him or the person if any entitled by transmission to the shares on the date of the sale.
- 31.2 Please note that in exercising its lien, the Company shall be entitled to treat the registered holder of any share as the absolute owner thereof and accordingly shall not (except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or unless required by any statute) be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to, or interest in, such share on the part of any other person, whether a creditor of the registered holder or otherwise. The Company's lien shall prevail notwithstanding that it has received notice of any such claim.

FORFEITURE OF SHARES

32. If call or installment not paid, notice may be given

32.1 If a member fails to pay any call or installment of a call on the day appointed for the payment of the same or any such extension thereof, the Board may, at any time thereafter, during such time as any part of such a call or installment remains unpaid, serve a notice on him requiring payment of so much of the call or installment as is unpaid, together with any interest which may have accrued.

33. Form of Notice

33.1 The notice aforesaid shall name a further day (not earlier then the expiration of fourteen days from the date of service of the notice) on or before which the payment required by the notice is to be made and shall state that, in the event of non-payment on or before the day appointed, the share/s in respect of which the call was made will be liable to be forfeited.

34. If notice not complied with shares may be forfeited

34.1 If requirements of any such notice as aforementioned are not complied with, any share in respect of which the notice has been given may, at any time thereafter, before the payment required by the notice has not been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the Board to that effect. Such forfeiture shall include all dividends declared in respect of the forfeited shares and not actually paid before the forfeiture.

35. Surrender of shares

35.1 The Board may, subject to provision of the Act, accept in the name and for the benefit of the Company and upon such terms and conditions as may be agreed upon, the surrender of any share liable to forfeiture and so far as the law permits of any other shares.

36. Board's rights to disposal of forfelted shares or cancellation of forfelture

36.1 A forfeited or surrendered share may be sold or otherwise disposed of upon such terms and in such manner as the Board may think fit and at any time before such sale or disposal the forfeiture or surrender may be cancelled on such terms as the Board may think fit.

37. Liability after forfeiture

37.1 A person whose shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a member in respect of the forfeited shares but shall notwithstanding the forfeiture, remain liable to pay and shall forthwith pay to the company all moneys, which at the date of forfeiture were presently payable by him to the Company in respect of the shares, whether such claim be barred by limitation in the date of the forfeiture or not but his liability shall cease if and when the Company received payment in full of all such moneys in respect of the shares.

38. Declaration of forfeiture

38.1 A duly verified declaration in writing that the declarant is a Director, or the Company Secretary of the Company and that a share in the Company has been fully forfeited on a date stated in the declaration, shall be conclusive evidence of the facts therein stated as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the shares, and that declaration and the receipt of the Company for the consideration, if any, given for the shares on the sale or disposal thereof, shall constitute a good title to the share and the person to whom the share is sold or disposed of shall be registered as the holder of the share and shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money (If any) nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings in reference to the forfeiture, sale or disposal of the share.

39. Non-payment of sums payable at fixed times

39.1 The provisions of these regulations as to forfeiture shall apply in the case of non-payment of any sum which, by the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable at a fixed time, whether on account of the nominal amount of the share or by way of premium or otherwise, as if the same had been payable by virtue of a call duly made and notified.

40. Closure of Register of Members and Register of Debenture holders

40.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Company may after giving not less than seven days previous notice by publishing an advertisement in the manner prescribed in the Act, close the Register of Members or the Register of Debenture holders for any period or periods not exceeding in the aggregate forty-five days in each year but not exceeding thirty days at any one time.

TRANSMISSION OF SHARES

41. Transmission of shares

- 41.1 (1) The executors or administrators of a deceased member (not being one of several joint holders) or the holder of a succession certificate empowered thereby to receive dividends on and to negotiate any shares belonging to a deceased member, shall be the only persons recognised by the Company, as having any title to the shares registered in the name of such member. Provided that should the member be a member of a joint Hindu family, the Board on being satisfied to that effect and on being satisfied that the shares standing in his name in fact belonged to the joint family may recognize the survivors or the Karta thereof as having title to the shares registered in the name of such member; provided further that in any case it shall be lawful for the Board in the absolute discretion to dispense with the production of probate or letters of administration or other legal representation upon such terms as to indemnity or otherwise, as to the Board may seem just.
 - (2) On the death of one or more of joint holders of any shares, the survivors/survivor alone shall be the only persons recognised by the Company as having any title to or interest in such shares. In the event of the death of any sole holder or of the death of the last surviving holder the executors or administrators, of such or other persons legally entitled to the shares shall be entitled to be recognised by the Company as having title to the shares of the deceased.

Provided that on production of such evidence as to title and on such indemnity or other terms as the Board may deem sufficient, any person may be recognised as having title to the shares as heir or legal representative of the deceased shareholder.

Provided further that if the deceased shareholder was a member of a joint Hindu family, the Board on being satisfied that the shares standing in his name in fact belonged to the joint family, may recognise the survivors of the Karta thereof as having title to the shares registered in the name of such member.

Provided also that in any case it shall be lawful for the Board in their absolute discretion to dispense with the production of probate or letters of administration or other legal representation, upon such evidence and such terms as to indemnity or otherwise as the Board may seem just.

(3) Nothing in clause (1) shall release the estate of a deceased joint holder from any liability in respect of any shares which were jointly held by him with other persons.

42. Nomination by Shareholder

42.1 Every holder of shares, debentures or other securities may at any time nominate in the prescribed manner, a person in whom his shares, debentures or other securities shall vest in the event of his death in accordance with the provisions of the law as may be applicable from time to time.

43. Rights and liabilities of legal representatives

- 43.1 Any person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death, liquidation or insolvency of a member or by any lawful means other than by a transfer may, upon such evidence being produced as may from time to time be required by the Board and subject to the conditions as hereinafter provided, elect either:
 - (a) to be registered himself as holder of the share.

O

- (b) to make such transfer of the share as the deceased or insolvent member could have made.
- 43.2 The Board shall, in either case, have the same right to decline or suspend registration as it would have had, if the deceased or insolvent member had transferred the share before his death or insolvency.

44. Notice of election by legal representatives

- 44.1 (1) If the person so becoming entitled shall elect to be registered as holder of the share himself, he shall deliver or send to the Company a notice in writing signed by him stating that he so elects.
 - (2) If the person aforesaid shall elect to transfer the share, he shall testify his election by executing a transfer of the share.
 - (3) All the limitation, restrictions and provisions of these regulations relating to the right to transfer and the registration of transfers of shares shall be applicable to any such notice or transfer as if aforesaid as the death, liquidation or insolvency of the member had not occurred and the notice or transfer were a transfer signed by that member.
 - (4) A person becoming entitled to a share by reason of the death, liquidation or insolvency of the holder shall be entitled to the same dividends and other advantages to which he would be entitled if he were the registered holder of the share, except that he shall not, before being registered as a member in respect of the share be entitled to in respect of it to exercise any right conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the company.

Provided that the Board may, at any time, give notice requiring any such person to elect either to be registered himself or to transfer the share, and if the notice is not complied within ninety days, the Board may thereafter withhold payment of all dividends, bonuses or other moneys payable in respect of the share until the requirements of the notice have been complied with.

45. Company's right to register transfer by apparent legal owner

45.1 The Company shall incur no liability or responsibility whatever in consequence of their registering or giving effect to any transfer of shares made or purporting to be made by any apparent legal owner thereof (as shown or appearing in the register) to the prejudice of persons having or claiming any equitable right, title or interest to or in the same shares and the Company shall not be bound by or required to regard or attend to or give effect to any notice which may be given to it of any equitable right, title or interest or be under any liability whatsoever for refusing or neglecting so to do, but the Company shall nevertheless be at liberty to have regard and attend to any such notice and give effect thereto, if the board shall think fit.

46. Provisions to apply to Securities

All provisions of this Articles of Association relating to lien on shares, calls on shares, transmission of shares, forfeiture of shares except those which are inconsistent with the provisions of the Act, shall mutatis mutandis apply to Securities issued by the Company.

47. Statutory Register

- 47.1 (i) The Company shall keep and maintain at its registered office or such other place as may be allowed under the Act, all statutory registers (as and when required) namely register of members, register of debenture holders, register of any other security holders, the register and index of beneficial owners and annual return, register of contracts and arrangements etc., minutes book of General Meeting, for such duration as the Board may, unless otherwise prescribed, decide, and in such manner and containing such particulars as prescribed by the Act and the Rules.
 - (ii) The registers and documents referred to in (i) and copies of annual return shall be open for inspection during 11:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. on all Working Days, at the registered office of the Company or any other place where the register, documents or copies of the annual return are kept in the manner as prescribed under the Act and the Rules, by the persons entitled thereto under the Act and Rules, on payment, where required, of such fees as may be fixed by the Board but not exceeding the limits prescribed by the Rules.
 - (iii) Subject to the provisions of the Act, copy or extract of the registers and documents referred to in (i) and copies of annual return, if allowed under the Act or the Rules, can be obtained from the registered office of the Company or any other place where the register, documents or copies of the annual return are kept in the manner as prescribed under the Act and the Rules by the persons entitled thereto, on payment, where required, of such fees as may be fixed by the Board but not exceeding the limits prescribed by the Rules.
 - (iv) The Company may keep in any country outside India, a part of register of member or register of debenture holder or of any other security holder or register of beneficial owner in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

CONVERSION OF SHARES INTO STOCK

48. Conversion of shares

The Company may, by ordinary resolution convert all or any fully paid up shares of any denomination into stock; and vice versa.

49. Transfer of stock

The holders of stock may transfer the same or any part thereof in the same manner as, and subject to the same regulations under which the shares from which the stock arose, might before the conversion have been transferred, or as near thereto as circumstances admit;

Provided that the Board may, from time to time fix the minimum amount to stock transferable, so however that such minimum shall not exceed the nominal amount of the shares from which the stock arose.

50. Rights of Stock holders

The holders of stock shall according to the amount of stock held by them have the same rights, privileges and advantages as regards, dividends, voting at meetings of the Company and other matters as if they held the shares from which the stock arose; but no such privilege or advantage (except participation in the dividends and profits of the Company and in the assets on winding up) shall be conferred by an amount of stock which would not, if existing in shares, have conferred that privilege or advantage.

51. Applicability of Regulations to stock and stockholders

Such of the regulations contained in these presents (other than those relating to share warrants) as are applicable to full paid up shares shall apply to stock and the words "share" and "shareholder" in these presents shall include "stock and stockholder" respectively.

ALTERATION OF CAPITAL

52. Alteration of Capital

- 52.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Company in General Meeting may from time to time alter the conditions of its Memorandum of Association as follows, that it is to say, it may
 - (a) Increase its authorized share capital by such amount as it thinks expedient by creating new shares.
 - (b) Consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of larger amount than its existing shares.
 - (c) Convert all or any of its fully paid up shares into stock, and reconvert that stock into fully paid up shares of any denomination.

- (d) Sub-divide its shares or any of them into shares of smaller amount than is fixed by the Memorandum, so however, that in the Sub-division the proportion between the amount paid and the amount, if any, unpaid on each reduced share shall be the same as it was in the case of the share from which the reduced share is derived.
- (e) Cancel any share which, at the date of the passing of the resolution in that behalf, have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person, and diminish the amount of its share capital by the amount of the shares so cancelled.
- 52.2 The resolution whereby any share is sub-divided may determine that, as between the holders of the shares resulting from such sub-division one or more of such shares shall have some preference or special advantage as regards dividend, capital or otherwise over or as compared with the others.

53. Reduction of capital etc.

The Company may, by special resolution, reduce in any manner and in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Rules:-

- (a) its Share Capital; or
- (b) any Capital Redemption Reserve Fund; or
- (c) any Share Premium Account; and / or
- (d) any other reserves in the nature of share capital.

GENERAL MEETING

54. General Meeting

- 54.1 The Company shall in each year hold in addition to the other meetings a general meeting of the Members which shall be styled as its annual general meeting and such general meeting shall be held within 6 months of the closure of financial year or such other time as may be prescribed under the applicable Laws.
- 54.2 All general meetings other than annual general meeting shall be referred to as Extraordinary General Meetings.

55. Extraordinary General Meeting

The Board may, whenever they think fit, convene an Extraordinary General Meeting at such time and at such place as they deem fit. Subject to the directions, if any, given by the Board, the Secretary may convene Extraordinary General Meetings.

56. Extraordinary General meeting by Requisition

56.1 The Board shall, on the requisition of such number of members of the Company as is specified below proceed duly to call an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company and comply with the provisions of the Act in regard to meetings on requisition.

- 56.2 The requisition shall set out the matters for the consideration of which the meeting is to be called, shall be signed by the requisitionists and shall be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company or sent to the Company by registered post addressed to the Company at its Registered Office or by way of an email to the Company Secretary of the Company.
- 56.3 The requisition may consist of several documents in like from each signed by one or more requisitionists.
- 56.4 Subject to the provisions of the Act, the number of members entitled to requisition a meeting in regard to any matter shall be such number of them, who hold on the date of receipt of requisition by the Company, not less than 1/10th of such of the paid up capital of the Company as at the date carries the right of voting regard to the matters set out in the requisition.
- 56.5 If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition with regard to any matters proceed duly to call a meeting for the consideration of those matters, on a day not later than 45 days from the date of deposit of the requisition, the meeting may be called by the requisitionists themselves or by such of the requisitionists as representing either a majority in value of the paid-up share capital held by all of them or not less than 1/10th of such paid up capital of the Company as is referred to in clause (4) above whichever is less within a period of three months from the date of requisition.

57. Length of notice for calling meeting

57.1 A general meeting of the Company may be called by giving not less than clear twenty one (21) days notice either in writing or through electronic mode in such manner as prescribed in the Act/ rules. Provided that a general meeting may be called after giving shorter notice if consent thereto is accorded in the case of the Annual general meeting by not less than ninety-five percent of the Members entitled to vote thereat and in the case of any other general meeting, by members, majority in numbers of members entitled to vote and who represent not less than ninety five percent of that part of the paid up share capital which gives the right to vote on the matters to be considered at the meeting. Provided that where any members or the Company are entitled to vote only on some resolutions or resolutions to be moved at a meeting and not on the others, those members shall be taken into account for purpose of this Article in respect of the former resolutions and not in respect of the latter.

58. Accidental omission to give notice not to invalidate meeting

The accidental omission to give notice of any meeting to or the non-receipt of any such notice by, any of the members or other person who is entitled to such notice, shall not invalidate the proceedings of, or any resolution passed at, such meeting.

59. Special Business

59.1 All business shall be deemed special that is transacted at an Extraordinary General Meeting and also that is transacted at an Annual General Meeting with the exception of business relating to

- (i) the consideration and approval of Financial Statement along with Reports of the Directors (including annexures thereto) and Auditor;
- (ii) the declaration of dividend;
- (iii) the appointment of Directors in the place of those retiring by rotation; and
- (iv) the appointment and fixing of the remuneration of the Auditors.
- 59.2 Where any items of business to be transacted at the meeting are deemed to be special as aforesaid, there shall be annexed to the notice of the meeting a statement setting out all information and facts that may enable members to understand the meaning, scope and implications of each item(s) of business and to take decision thereon including in particular the nature of the concern or interest, if any of every director, manager, key managerial personnel and relatives of all such persons.

PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

60. Quorum

- 60.1 No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum of members is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business.
- 60.2 The quorum for the general meeting shall be as below
 - (i) five members personally present if the number of members as on the date of meeting is not more than one thousand:
 - (ii) fifteen members personally present if the number of members as on the date of meeting is more than one thousand but up to five thousand;
 - (iii) thirty members personally present if the number of members as on the date of the meeting exceeds five thousand.

61. If quorum not present when meeting to be dissolved and when to be adjourned

If at the expiration of half an hour from the time appointed for the Meeting, a quorum of Members is not present, the Meeting, if convened by or upon the requisition of Members, shall be dissolved, but in any other case it shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week or if that day is a public holiday until the next succeeding day which is not a public holiday, at the same time and place or to such other day and at such other time and place as the Board may determine; and if at such adjourned Meeting a quorum of Members is not present at the expiration of half an hour from the time appointed for the Meeting, those Members who are present shall be a quorum, and may, transact the business for which the Meeting was called.

62. Chairman of General meeting

62.1 The Chairman of the Board of Directors and in his absence Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors shall preside as the Chairman at every general meeting of the Company.

62.2 If there is no such Chairman and/or Vice Chairman or if at any meeting Chairman/Vice Chairman is not present within fifteen (15)minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting or they are un-willing to act as Chairman of the meeting, the members present shall choose another Director as Chairman of the meeting or if no Director be present or if all the Directors decline to chair, then the members present shall choose someone from the members to be the Chairman of the meeting.

63. Adjournment of the meeting

- 63.1 The Chairman may with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is present and shall, if directed by the meeting, adjourn that meeting from time to time and from place to place; but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.
- 63.2 When a meeting is adjourned, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given in the manner as prescribed in the Act, and applicable Secretarial Standards.

64. Question at General Meeting how decided

At any General Meeting, a resolution put to vote at the meeting shall, unless the same relates to appointment of Chairman, shall be carried out through e-voting (under section 108 of the Act) and Poll (under Section 109 of the Act) and the provisions contained herein are applicable:

Such voting in a general meeting or by postal ballot shall also include electronic voting as permitted by applicable laws from time to time.

65. Casting Vote

In the case of an equality of votes, the Chairman of the general meeting shall on a show of hands, have a casting vote in addition to the vote or votes to which he may be entitled as a member.

66. Taking of poll

For a resolution related to appointment of Chairman of a general meeting, if a poll is duly demanded in accordance with the provisions of the Act, it shall be taken in such manner as the Chairman directs, and the result of poll shall be deemed to be decision of the meeting on the resolutions on which the poll was taken.

67. In what cases poll taken without adjournment

A poll demanded on the election of Chairman or on a question of adjournment of the meeting shall be taken forthwith.

68. No member entitled to vote while call due to the Company

No member shall be entitled to vote either personally or by proxy at any General Meeting or meeting of a class of shareholders in respect any shares registered in his name on which any call or other sums presently payable by him have not been paid or in regard to which the Company has, and has exercised, any right of lien.

69. Votes

Subject to the provision of the Articles, and without prejudice to any special privileges or restrictions as to voting for the time being attached to any class of shares for the time being forming part of the capital of the Company, any member, not disqualified by the last preceding Article, shall be entitled to be present, and to speak and vote at such meeting; and on a show of hands every member present in person shall have one vote and upon a poll the voting right of every member present in person or by proxy shall be in proportion to his share in the paid-up equity capital of the Company.

70. Postal Ballot

The Company may obtain the approval of its members on any resolution by way of postal ballot instead of transacting the business in general meeting of the company in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

71. Validity of Votes

- 71.1 No objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered, and every vote not disallowed at such meeting shall be valid for all purposes.
- 71.2 Any such objection made in due time shall be referred to the Chairman of the meeting, whose decision shall be final and conclusive.

72. Vote by joint holders

If there be joint registered holders of any share, anyone of such persons may vote at any meeting or may appoint another person (whether a member or not) as his proxy in respect of such shares, as if he were solely entitled thereto but the proxy so appointed shall not have any right to speak at the meeting and, if more than one of such joint-holders be present at any meeting that one of the said persons so present whose name stands higher on the Register shall alone be entitled to speak and to vote in respect of such shares, but the other or others of the joint holders shall be entitled to be present at the meeting. Several executors or administrators of a deceased Member in whose name shares stand shall for the purpose of these Articles be deemed joint holders thereof.

73. Vote on behalf of member of unsound mind or minor

A member of unsound mind, or in respect of whom an order has been made by any Court having jurisdiction in lunacy, or minor may vote, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, by his committee or other legal guardian, and any such committee or guardian may, on a poll, vote by proxy.

74. Proxies permitted in polls

On a poll, votes may be given either personally or by proxy deposited as per Article 76 thereafter.

75. Instrument of proxy

- 75.1 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointed or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if the appointed is a Corporation either under the common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney so authorised. Any person may act as proxy whether he is a member or not.
- 75.2 A corporate body (whether a company within the meaning of the Act or not) may, if it is a member or a creditor or a debenture holder of the Company, by the resolution of its Board of Directors or other governing body authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any meeting of the Company or at any meeting of any creditors of the company held in pursuance of the Companies Act or any Rules made thereunder or in pursuance of the provisions contained in any Debenture or Trust Deed as the case may be. The person so authorised by resolution aforesaid shall be entitled to exercise the same rights and powers (including the right to vote by proxy) on behalf of the body corporate which he represents, as that body could exercise if it were an individual member, creditor or holder of debentures of the Company.
- 75.3 So long as and authorisation under clause (2) above is in force, the power to appoint proxy shall be exercised only by the person so appointed as representative.

76. Proxy to be deposited at the office

The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of authority, shall be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company, not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the instrument purposes to vote, and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

77. Validity of vote by proxy

A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid, notwithstanding the previous death or insanity of the appointer, or the revocation of the proxy or of the authority under which the proxy was executed, or the transfer of the share in respect of which the proxy is given; provided that no intimation in writing of the death, insanity, revocation or transfer shall have been received at the Registered Office of the Company before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the proxy is used.

78. Form of proxy

An instrument appointing a proxy shall be in the form as prescribed under the Act and Rules.

79. Time for objections to Votes

Subject to the provisions of the Act, no objection shall be made to the validity of any vote, except at the meeting or poll at which such vote shall be tendered, and every vote whether given personally or by proxy, not disallowed at such meeting or poll shall be deemed valid for all purposes of such meeting or poll whatsoever.

80. Chairman of any Meeting to be the judge of validity of any vote

The Chairman of any meeting shall be the sole judge of the validity of every vote tendered at such meeting. The Chairman present at the taking of a poll shall be the sole judge of the validity of every vote tendered at such poll.

81. Minutes

- 81.1 The Company shall comply with the requirements of the Act, in respect of keeping of the minutes of all proceedings of every General Meeting including matters transacted through postal ballot and of every meeting of the Board or any Committee of the Board.
- 81.2 The Chairman of the meeting may exclude at his absolute discretion such of matters as, or could reasonably be regarded as, defamatory of any person, irrelevant or immaterial to the proceedings or detrimental to the interests of the Company.

DIRECTORS

82. Number of Directors

Until otherwise determined by a General Meeting in accordance with the provisions of the Act, the number of Directors shall not be less than three and not more than fifteen.

83. Remuneration of Directors

- 83.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act and approval of shareholders in general meeting, a Managing Director or Whole-time Director, by whatever name called, of the Company may be paid remuneration either by way of monthly payment or at a specified percentage of the net profits of the Company or partly by one way and partly by the other. The other director may be paid subject to aforesaid provisions of the Act and approval of shareholders in general meeting, such remuneration as the Board may deem fit by way of monthly payment or at a specified percentage of the net profits of the company or part by one way and partly by other.
- 83.2 The fee payable to a Director for attending a meeting of the Board or Committee thereof shall be such sum as may be determined by the Board from time to time within the ceiling prescribed under the Act.
- 84. Special remuneration of Directors performing extra service and reimbursement of expenses
- 84.1 If any Director be called upon to perform extra service or special exertions or effects which expression shall include extra work done by a Director as a member of any Committee formed by the Director, then the Company in General Meeting or the Board of Directors may, remunerate such Director or where there is more than one such Director all or such of them together in such manner as may be determined by the Board for services rendered by any such director in other capacity provided
 - (a) the services rendered are of a professional nature; and

(b) in the opinion of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, or the Board of Directors in other cases, the director possesses the requisite qualification for the practice of the profession.

Such remuneration may be either in addition to or in substitution for the remuneration provided in clauses detailed above.

84.2 The Board may allow and pay to any Director, who is not a bonafide resident of the place where, the meeting of the Board is held and who shall come to such place for the purpose of attending a meeting such sum as the Board may consider fair compensation for travelling, boarding, lodging and other expenses in addition to his fee for attending such meeting, as specified above;

And if any Director be called upon to or reside out of the ordinary place of his residence on the Company's business, he shall be entitled to be paid and reimbursed any travelling or other expenses, incurred in connection with the business of the Company.

85. Additional Director

The Directors shall have power at any time and from time to time to appoint any other person as Director as an addition to the Board but so that the total number of Directors shall not at any time exceed the maximum number fixed. Any Directors so appointed shall hold office only until the conclusion of the next to following Annual General Meeting of the Company or upto the last date till when the Annual General Meeting should have been held and shall be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

86. Casual Vacancy

If the office of any Director appointment in general meeting, is vacated before the expiry of his term, then the resulting vacancy may be filled up by Board of Directors, which shall subsequently be approved by the Members in the immediate next general meeting. The person so appointed shall hold office up to the date on which the Director in whose place he is appointed would have held office it had not been vacated.

87. Alternate Directors

- 87.1 The Board of Directors of the Company may appoint Alternate Director to act for a Director (hereinafter called in this clause 'the Original Director') during his absence for a period of not less than three months from India in accordance with the requirements of the Act.
- 87.2 An Alternate Director appointed under sub-clause (1) shall not hold office as such for period longer than that permissible to the Original Director in whose place he has been appointed and shall vacate the office if and when the Original Director returns to India.
- 87.3 If term of Office of the Original Director is determined before he so returns to India, any provision for the automatic re-appointment of retiring Directors in default of another appointment shall apply to the Original Director and not to the Alternate Director.

88. Continuing Directors may act

The continuing Directors may act notwithstanding any vacancy in the Board, so long as their number is not reduced below the quorum fixed by the Act for a meeting of the Board of Directors. In the event the number of continuing Directors is reduced below the quorum fixed by the Act for a meeting of the Board of Directors, the Directors may act for the purpose of increasing the number of Directors to that fixed for a quorum or of summoning general meeting and for no other purpose.

89. Disqualification / Vacation of Office of Directors

- 89.1 A person shall not be capable of being appointed as a Director of the Company, if he is disqualified under Section 164 of the Act. For appointment as independent director the person should also qualify the criteria(s) provided under Section 149 of the Act.
- 89.2 The office of the Director shall become vacant in the circumstances stated in Section 167 of the Act.

90. Director may contract with Company

Subject, to the provisions of the Act, the Directors shall not be disqualified by reason of their office as such from contracting with the Company either as vendor, purchaser, lender, agent, broker, or otherwise, nor shall any such contract or any contract or arrangement entered into by or on behalf of the Company with any Director or with any Company or partnership of or in which any Director shall be member or otherwise interested be avoided, nor shall any Director so contracting or being such member so interested be liable to account to the Company for any profit realised by such contract or arrangement by reason only of such Director holding that Office or of the fiduciary relation thereby established provided necessary approvals required in accordance with the provisions of the Act has been obtained and the interest must be disclosed by him or them at the meeting of the Board at which the contract or arrangement is determined, or if the interest then exists or in any other case at the meeting of the Board after the acquisition of the interest.

Provided nevertheless that no Director shall take part in the discussion of or vote as a Director in respect of any contract or arrangement in which he is so interested as aforesaid he does so, his vote shall not be counted, but he shall be entitled to be present at the meeting during the transaction of the business in relation to which he is precluded from voting although he shall not be counted for the purposes of ascertaining whether there is quorum of Directors present.

91. Rights of Directors

Except as otherwise provided by these Articles and the Act, all the Directors of the Company shall have in all matters equal rights and privileges and be subject to equal obligations and duties in respect of affairs of the Company.

RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS

92. Rotation and Retirement of Directors

Except Independent Directors and other Directors, whose office is non-retiring, all other Directors shall be liable to retire by rotation and out of the said Directors, one-third of the Directors shall retire by rotation at the every annual general meeting of the Company or, if their number, is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to one-third shall retire from office.

93. Retiring Director eligible for re-election

A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and the Company at the General Meeting, at which a Director retires in the manner aforesaid may fill up the vacancy by appointing the retiring Director or some other person thereto.

94. Which Directors to retire by Rotation

The Directors to retire by rotation at every annual general meeting shall be those who have been longest in office since their last appointment, but as between persons who became Directors on the same day, those to retire shall, in default of and subject to any agreement among themselves, be determined by lot.

95. Retiring Directors to remain in office till successors appointment

If at any General Meeting at which an election of Directors ought to take place, the place of any retiring Director is not filled up, and the meeting has not expressly resolved not to fill the vacancy, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and place, or if that day is a National holiday till the next succeeding day which is not a National holiday at the same time and place and if at the adjourned meeting also the place of the retiring Director is not filled up and that meeting also has not expressly resolved not to fill the vacancy then the retiring Director whose place has not been so filled up shall be deemed to have been re-elected at the adjourned meeting, subject to the provisions of the Act.

96. Powers to remove Directors by ordinary resolution.

Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Company by an ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiration of his period of office and by an ordinary resolution appoint another person instead. The person so appointed shall be subject to retirement at the same time as if he had become a Director on the day on which the Director in whose place he is appointed was last elected as Director.

97. Right of persons other than retiring Directors to stand for directorship

A person not being retiring Director shall be eligible for appointment to the office of a Director at any general meeting, if he or some other member intending to propose him as a director, has, not less than fourteen days before the meeting, left at the Registered Office of the company, a notice in writing under his hand signifying his candidature for the office of the Director or as the case may be, the intention of such member to propose him as a candidate for that office, along with a deposit of such sum as prescribed from

time to time under the Act, which shall be refunded to such person or, as the case may be, to such member, only if the person succeeds in getting elected as a Director or gets more than twenty-five per cent of total valid votes cast either on show of hands or on poll on such resolution Provided that the requirements of deposit of amount shall not apply in case of appointment of any Independent Director or a Director recommended by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS

98. Meeting of the Board

- 98.1 The Board may meet for conduct of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate the meetings, as they think fit; provided that at least four such meetings shall be held in every year in such a manner that not more than one hundred and twenty days shall intervene between two consecutive meetings of the Board.
- 98.2 The Secretary may as and when necessary, and shall on the requisition of a Director, at any time summon a meeting of the Board.

99. Participation through Electronic Mode

The participation of Directors in a meeting of the Board or its Committee may be either in person or through video conferencing or audio visual means or any other mode, as may be prescribed by the Act, Rules and/or applicable Secretarial Standards.

100. Quorum

Subject to the Applicable Laws, the quorum for a meeting of the Board shall be one-third of the total strength (any fraction contained, in that one-third being rounded off as one) or two Directors whichever is higher; provided that where at any time the number of interested Directors is equal to or exceeds two-third of total strength, the number of the remaining Directors, that is to say the number of the Directors who are not interested, present the meeting being not less than two, shall be the quorum during such time. The total strength of the Board shall mean the number of Directors actually holding office as Directors on the date of the resolution or meeting, that is to say, the total strength of Board after deducting therefrom the number of Directors, if any, whose places are vacant at the time.

101. Questions how decided

- 101.1 Save as otherwise expressly provided in the Act, a meeting of the Board for the time being at which a quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all or any of the authorities, power and discretion by or under the regulations of Company for the time being vested in or exercisable by the Directors generally and all question arising at any meeting or the Board shall be decided by a majority of the Board.
- 101.2 In case of an equality of votes, the Chairman shall have a second or casting vote in addition to his vote as a Director, provided that the Chairman shall not have a casting vote at the election of a Chairman of the Board.

102. Chairman/Vice Chairman

- Subject to Applicable Laws, Shri Onkar S Kanwar, the present Chairman of the Board, shall be the Chairman of the Company and shall not be liable to retire by rotation.
 - (b) Subject to Applicable Laws, Shri. Neeraj Kanwar, the Vice Chairman of the Board, shall be the Vice Chairman of the Company and shall not be liable to retire by rotation.
- 102.2 In the absence of Chairman, Vice Chairman shall automatically chair the meeting.
- 102.3 If no person has been appointed as Chairman and/or Vice Chairman under Clause (1) above or at any meeting, the Chairman and the Vice Chairman both are not present within (fifteen) 15 minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the Directors present may choose one of their number to be Chairman of the meeting.

103. Chairman Emeritus

The Board may appoint any Director/Former Director as Chairman Emeritus who may or may not be on the Board for such period and on such terms as may be decided by the Board.

104. Committee

- 104.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Board of Directors may, from time to time, appoint one or more committees consisting of one or more members of the Board as it may deem fit.
- 104.2 Subject to the provisions of the Act, the quorum of a Committee may be fixed by the Board and until so fixed the quorum shall be two members.
- 104.3 Unless resolution of the Board constituting the Committee otherwise specifies, the provisions of these Articles with respect to calling and holding meeting of Board of Directors shall apply to any Committee constituted by the Board under these Articles.

105. Election of Chairman of the Committee

The committee may elect a chairman of its meetings unless the Board whilst constituting a Committee, has appointed the Chairman of the Committee. If no chairman is elected, or if at any meeting the chairman is not present within 15(fifteen) minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the members present may choose one of their members to be chairman of the meeting.

106. Questions how determined

- 106.1 A Committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper.
- 106.2 Questions arising at any meeting of a Committee shall be determined by a majority of votes of the members present as the case may be, and in case of an equality of votes the Chairman shall have a second or casting vote in addition to his vote as a member of the Committee.

107. Acts done by Board or Committee valid notwithstanding defective appointment etc.

All acts done in any meeting of the Board or of a Committee thereof, or by any person acting as a Director, shall notwithstanding that it may be afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of anyone or more of such Directors or of any person acting as aforesaid, or that they or any of them were disqualified or that his or their appointment had been terminated, be as valid as if every such Director and such person had been duly appointed and was qualified to be a Director.

108. Resolution by Circulation

Save as otherwise expressly provided in the Act and applicable Secretarial Standards, a resolution in writing, signed, whether manually or by secure electronic mode, by majority of the members of the Board or of a Committee thereof, for the time being entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the Board or Committee, shall be valid and effective as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Board or Committee, duly convened and held.

POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS

109. Powers of Company vested in Directors

- 109.1 The business of the Company shall subject to the provisions thereof be managed by Board of Directors, who may exercise all such powers of the Company as are not by the Act or any statutory modification thereof for the time being in force, or by these presents; required to be exercised by the Company in General Meeting, subject nevertheless to any regulation of these presents, to the provision of the said Act, and to such regulations being not inconsistent with the aforesaid regulations or provisions as may prescribed by the Company in General Meeting; but no regulation made by Company in General Meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the Board which would have been valid if that regulation had not been made. Without prejudice to the generality of the powers conferred by the last preceding clause, and other powers conferred by these presents, it is hereby expressly declared that the Directors shall have following powers, that is to say, power-
 - (1) To carry on and transact the several kinds of business specified in Clause III of the Memorandum of Association of the Company.
 - (2) To draw, accept, endorse, discount, negotiate and discharge on behalf of the company all bills of exchange, promissory notes, cheques, hundies, drafts, railway receipts, dock warrants, delivery orders, Government promissory notes, other Government instruments, bonds, debentures or debenture stocks of Corporations, local bodies, port trusts, improvement trusts or other Corporate Bodies and to execute transfer deeds for transferring stock share or stock certificates of the Government and other local or corporate bodies in connection with any business or any subject of the Company.

- (3) To acquire by purchase, lease exchange, or otherwise, lands, estate, fields, buildings, office showrooms, godowns and other buildings in the State of Kerala or elsewhere, machinery, engine, plant, rolling stock, tools, outfits, stores, hardware and any other materials of whatever description either for credit or for cash and present or future delivery.
- (4) At their discretion, to pay for any property rights privileges acquired by or services rendered to the Company, either wholly or partially in cash or in shares, bonds, debentures or other securities of the Company and any such shares may be issued either as fully paid up or with amount credited as paid up thereon as may be agreed upon and any such bonds, debentures, or other securities may be either specifically charged upon all or any of the property of the Company or not so charged.
- (5) To engage and in their discretion to remove, suspend, dismiss and remunerate bankers, legal advisory accountants, cashiers, clerks, agents, commission agents, dealers, brokers, foremen servants, employee of every description and to employ such professional or technical or skilled assistants as from time to time may in their opinion be necessary or advisable in the interest of the Company and upon such terms as to duration of employment, remuneration or otherwise and may require security in such instances and to such amounts as the Directors think fit.
- (6) To secure the fulfillment of any contracts of agreements entered into by the Company, by mortgage or charge of all or any of the property of the Company or in such other manner as they may think fit.
- (7) To institute, conduct, defend, compound or abandon any actions, suits and legal proceeding by or against the Company or its Officers or otherwise concerning the affairs of the Company and also to compound or compromise submit to arbitration the same actions, suits and legal proceedings.
- (8) To plant, develop, improve, cut down, process, sell or otherwise dispose of the products of this Company and to incur all expenses in this behalf.
- (9) To make and give receipts, releases and other discharges for money payable to the Company and for the claims and demands of the Company.
- (10) To determine who shall be entitled to sign on the Company's behalf bills of exchange, pro notes dividend warrants, cheques and other negotiable instruments, receipts acceptances, endorsements, release contracts, deeds, and documents.
- (11) From time to time to provide for the management of the affairs of the Company in any specific locality in India or abroad in such manner as they think fit and in particular to appoint any persons to be the attorneys or agents of the Company either abroad or in India with such power to sub-delegate and upon such terms as may be thought fit.
- (12) To invest and deal with any of the moneys of the Company not immediately required for the purpose thereof upon such securities as they think fit.

- (13) To execute in the name and on behalf of the Company in favour of any Director or other person who may incur or be about to incur any personal liability for the benefit of the Company such mortgages of the Company's property (present and future) as they think fit and any such mortgage may contain a power of sale and such other powers, convents and provisions as shall be agreed on.
- (14) To give to any person employed by the Company a commission on the profits of any particular business or transactions, or a share in the general profits of the Company and such commission, or share of profits, shall be treated as part of the working expenses of the Company.
- (15) From time to time to make, vary and repeal by laws for the regulation of the business of the Company its officers and servants.
- (16) To enter into all such negotiation, and contracts, and rescind and vary all such contracts, and execute and do all such acts, deeds and things in the name and on behalf of the company as they may consider expedient for or in relation to any of the matters aforesaid, or otherwise for the purposes of the Company and to delegate to any of its directors or officers of the Company, the powers of execution of documents in relation to the aforesaid agreement/contracts and to do all such acts and deeds in execution of the documents.
- (17) To pay gratuities, bonus, rewards, presents and gifts to employees or dependents of any decease employees, to charitable institutions or purposes to subscribe for provident funds, and other association for the benefit of the employees.

110. Chief Executive Officer, Manager, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Subject to the provisions of the Act,-

- (i) A Chief Executive Officer, Manager, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary may be appointed by the Board for such term, at such remuneration and upon such conditions as it may think fit; and any Chief Executive Officer, Manager, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary so appointed may be removed by means of a resolution of the Board; the Board may appoint one or more chief executive officers for its multiple businesses.
- (ii) A Director may be appointed as Chief Executive Officer, Manager, Chief Financial Officer or Company Secretary.

111. Appointment and Powers of Managing Directors

- 111.1 Subject to the provision of the Act, the Board may appoint one or more of their number as Managing Director or Managing Directors at such remuneration and upon such conditions as they think fit.
- 111.2 A Managing Director, shall not, while he continues to hold that office, be subject to retirement by rotation, and he shall be subject to the same provisions as to resignation and removal as the other directors of the company, and he shall, ipso facto and immediately, cease to be a Managing Director if he ceases to hold office of Director from any clause.

111.3 Subject to the provisions of the Act and to the general supervisions and control of the Board, and Managing Director or Managing Directors shall have the general direction, management and super in tendency of the business of the Company with power to do all acts, matters and things deemed necessary, proper or expedient for carrying on the business and concerns of the Company, including power to appoint, suspend and dismiss officers, staff and workmen of the Company, to make and sign all contracts and receipts and to draw, accept, endorse and negotiate on behalf of the Company all such .Bills of Exchange, Promissory Notes, Hundies, Cheque, Drafts, Government Promissory Notes, or other Government papers and other instrument as shall be necessary, proper or expedient for carrying on the business of the Company and to operate on the Bank accounts of the Company and to represent the Company in all suits and all other legal proceeding and to engage Solicitors, Advocates and other Agents and to sign the necessary papers, documents and instruments of authority, to appoint agents or other attorneys and to delegate to them such powers as the Managing Director or Managing Directors may deem fit and at pleasure, such powers to revoke and generally to exercise all such powers and authorities as are not by the Companies Act for the time being in force or by these Articles expressly directed to be exercised by the Board of Directors or by the Company in General Meeting.

112. Same individual may be Chairperson and Managing Director/ Chief Executive Officer

Subject to Applicable Laws, a person may at the same time, be appointed or reappointed as the Chairperson of the Board as well as the Managing Director and/or Chief Executive Officer in the Company.

113. Legal Proceedings

Any Managing Director or the Secretary for the time being or any other person duly authorised by the Directors shall be entitled to make, give, sign and execute and all every warrant to sue or defend on behalf of the Company, all and every legal proceedings and compositions, or compromise, agreement and submission to arbitration and agreement to refer to arbitration as may be requisite, and for the purposes aforesaid, the Secretary or such other person may be empowered to use their or his own name on behalf of the Company and they or he shall be saved harmless and indemnified out of the funds and property of the Company, from and against all costs and damages which they or he may incur or be liable to be reason of their or his name being so used as aforesaid.

114. Powers to delegate to Directors

114.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Board may delegate from time to time and at any time to a Committee formed out of the Directors or to any Directors jointly or severally or to anyone Director any of the powers, authorities and discretions for the time being vested in the Board and any such delegation may be made on such terms and subject to such conditions as the Board may think fit.

115. Attorney of the Company

The Board may appoint at any time and from time to time by a power of attorney under the Company' seal any person to be the attorney of tile Company for such purposes and with such powers, authorities and discretions not exceeding those vested in or exercisable by the Board under these Articles and for such period and subject to such conditions as the Board may from time to time think fit and any such appointment may, if the Board think fit be made in favour of the members, or any of the members of any firm or Company or the members, directors, nominee or manager of any firm or company, or otherwise in favour of any fluctuating body of persons, whether nominated directly or indirectly by the Board, and any such power of attorney may contain such provision for the protection or convenience of persons dealing with such attorney as the Board may think fit.

BORROWING

116. Borrowing

116.1 The Board of Directors may from time to time but subject to such consent the Company in general meeting as may be required under Section 180 of the Act raise any money or any moneys or sums of money for the purpose of the Company provided that the moneys to be borrowed by the Company apart from temporary loans obtained from the Company's bankers in the ordinary course of business shall not without the sanction of the Company at a General meeting exceed the aggregate of the paid up Capital of the Company and its free reserves that is to say reserves not set apart for any specific purpose and securities premium account and in particular, but subject to the provisions of Section 180 of the Act, the Board may from time to time at their discretion or borrow or secure the payment of any sum or sums of money for the purpose of the Company, by the issue of debentures perpetual or otherwise including debentures convertible into shares of this or any other company or perpetual annuities in security of any such money so borrowed, raised or received mortgage, pledge or charge, the whole or any part of the property, assets, or revenue of the Company present or future, including its uncalled capital, by special assignment or otherwise, or to transfer to convey the same absolutely or in trust and to give the lenders powers of sale and other power as may be expedient and to purchase, redeem or payoff any such securities.

Provided that every resolution passed by the Company in General Meeting in relation to the exercise of the power to borrow as stated above shall specify the total amount up to which moneys may be borrowed by the Board of Directors.

- 116.2 The Directors may by a resolution at a meeting of the Board delegate the above power to borrow money otherwise than on debentures to a committee of Directors within the limits prescribed.
- 116.3 Subject to the provisions of the above sub-clauses the Directors may, from time to time, at their discretion, raise or borrow or secure the repayment of sum or sums of money for the purpose of the Company, at such time and in such manner and upon such terms and conditions in all respects as they think fit, and in particular, by promissory notes, or by opening current accounts, or by receiving deposits and advances with or without

security, or by the issue of bonds, perpetual or redeemable debenture stock of the Company charged upon all or any of the part of the property of the Company (both present and future including its uncalled capital for the time being, or by mortgaging or charging or pledging any lands, buildings, goods or other property and securities of the Company, or by such other means as to them may seem expedient).

116.4 Such debentures, debenture-stock, bonds or other securities may be made assignable free from any equities between the Company and the person to whom the same may be issued.

117. Nomination of Directors

- Any trust deed for the securing of any debentures or debenture-stock and/or any 117.1 (a) mortgage deed or other bond for securing payment of moneys borrowed by or due by the Company and/or any contract or any agreement made by the Company with any person, firm, body corporate, Government or authority who may render or agree to render any financial assistance to the Company by way of loans advance or by guaranteeing for any loan borrowed or other obligations of the Company or by subscription to the share capital of the Company or provide assistance in any other manner, may provide for the appointment, from time to time, by any such Mortgage, Lender, Trustee of or holders of debentures or Contracting Party as aforesaid, of one or more persons to be a Director or Directors of the Company, Such Trust Deed, Mortgage Deed, Bond or Contract may provide that the person appointing a Director as aforesaid may from time to time remove any Director so appointed by him and appoint any other person in his place and provide for filling up of any casual vacancy created by such person vacating office as such Director. Such power shall determine and terminate on the discharge or repayment of the respective Mortgage, Loan or Debt or Debentures or on the termination of such contract and any person so appointed as Director under Mortgage or Bond or Debenture or Trust Deed or under such contract shall cease to hold office as such Director on the discharge of the same. Such appointment and provision in such document as aforesaid shall be valid and effective as if contained in these presents.
 - (b) In particular the Board of Directors may at their discretion borrow or otherwise raise money for the purpose of Company from any Bank or financial institution or any non-banking financial company and for that purpose may empower or authorise them to appoint one or more individuals as Directors who shall not be liable for retirement by rotation.
 - (c) The director or directors so appointed by or under a mortgage deed or other bond or contract or authorisation or by the board as aforesaid shall be called a Special Director or Special Directors, and the director if appointed as aforesaid under the provisions of a debenture trust deed shall be called "debenture director". The words "Special Director" or "Debenture Director" shall mean the Special Director or Debenture Director for the time being in the office. The Special Director or Debenture Director shall not be liable to retire by rotation or to be removed from office by the Company. Such Mortgage Deed or Bond or Trust Deed Or contract

- or authorisation may contain such auxiliary provisions as may be arrange between the Company and Mortgage, Lender, the Trustee or contracting party as the case may be and all such provisions shall have effect not withstanding any of the other provisions herein contained but shall be subject to the provisions of the Act.
- (d) The total number of Directors, if any, so appointed under this Article together with any other Ex-Office Directors, shall not at any time exceed one-third of the whole number of Directors for the time being.

118. Charge on Uncalled Capital

118.1 If the uncalled share capital of the Company is charged to any person, the Board may, subject to the terms and conditions on which such charge has been created, make calls on such shares but shall keep the money so collected in trust for the person in whose favour such capital is charged, to discharge the liability.

119. Subsequent Assignees of Uncalled Capital

119.1 Where any uncalled Capital of the Company is charged, all persons taking any subsequent charge thereon shall take the same subject to such prior charge and shall not be entitled, by notice to the shareholders or otherwise, to obtain priority over such prior charge.

120. Charge in favour of Director or Indemnity

120.1 If the Director or any of them or any other persons, shall become personally liable for the payment of any sum primarily due from the Company, the Board may execute or cause to be executed and mortgage, charge or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the assets of the Company by way of indemnity to secure the Directors or others persons so becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such liability.

COMMON SEAL

121. Common Seal

121.1 The Board shall provide a Common Seal for the Company and shall have power, from time to time to cancel the same and substitute a new seal in lieu thereof. The Common Seal shall be kept at the Registered Office of the Company or at any other place as may be decided by the Board and Committed to the Custody of the Secretary/authorised officials.

122. Official Seal for use Abroad

122.1 Subject to provisions of the Act, the Board may also provide an official Seal for use in any district, territory or place outside India. An official Seal of the Company shall be a facsimile of the Seal, with the addition on its face, of the name of the territory, district or place where it is proposed to be used.

123. Affixation of Common Seal

123.1 The seal of the Company shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of a resolution of the Board or of a Committee of the Board authorised by it in this behalf, and except in the presence of at least two Directors or a Director and the Secretary or such other person as the Board may appoint for the purpose; and the persons aforesaid shall sign every instrument to which the seal of the Company is so affixed in their presence.

DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES

124. Right to Dividend

- 124.1 The profits of the Company (including capital profits) subject to any special rights relating thereto created or authorised to be created by these presents, and subject to the provisions of these presents, as to the Reserve Funds, shall be divisible among the members in proportion to the amount of capital paid up on the shares held by them respectively on the last day of the year of account in respect of which such dividend is declared and in the case of interim dividends on the close of the last day of the period in respect of which such interim dividend is paid.
- 124.2 Where capital is paid on any shares in advance of calls, upon the footing that the same shall carry interest; such capital shall not, whilst carrying interest, confer a right to participate in profits.

125. Declaration of Dividends

The Company in General Meeting may declare dividends but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

126. Interim Dividend

Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Board may declare interim dividends as it appears to the Board to be justified by the profits of the Company.

127. Dividends to be paid out of profits only

No dividend shall be payable except out of the profits of the Company for the year or any other undistributed profits except as provided by Section 123 of the Act.

128. Reserve Funds

128.1 The Board may before recommending any dividend set aside out of the profits of the Company such sum as they think proper as a reserve or reserves, which shall at the discretion of the Board, be applied for any purpose to which the profits of the Company may be properly applied, including provision for meeting contingencies or for equalising dividends, and pending such application may, at the like discretion, either be employed in the business of the Company or be invested in such investments (other than shares of the Company) as the Board may, from time to time think fit.

128.2 The Board may also carry forward any profits which it may think prudent not to divide, without setting them aside as a Reserve.

129. Method of Payment of Dividend

- 129.1 Subject to the rights of persons if any entitled to shares with special rights as to dividends, all dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid up or credited as paid on the shares in respect whereof the dividend is paid.
- 129.2 No amount paid or credited as paid on a share in advance of calls shall be treated for the purposes of these regulation as paid on the share.
- 129.3 All dividends shall be apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid; but if any share is issued on terms providing that it shall rank for dividend as from a particular date such share shall rank for dividend accordingly.

130. Deduction of Arrears

The Board may deduct from any dividend payable to any member all sums of money, if any, presently payable by him to the Company on account of calls or otherwise in relation to the shares of the Company.

131. Adjustment of Dividends against Calls

Any General Meeting declaring a dividend or bonus may make a call on the members of such amount as the meeting fixes, but so that the call on each member shall not exceed the dividend or bonus payable to him and so that the call can be made payable at the same time as the dividend or bonus and the dividend or bonus may if so arranged between the Company and themselves be set off against the call.

132. Payment by electronic means, Cheque or Warrant

- 132.1 Any dividend, interest or other moneys payable in respect of shares may be paid by electronic means of payment as approved by the Reserve Bank of India. Where it is not possible to make payment through electronic mode, payment can also be made by cheque or warrant sent through the post directed to the registered address of the holder or in case of joint holders to the registered address of that one of the Joint holders who is first named in the Register of Members or to such address as the holder or the joint holders may in writing direct.
- 132.2 Every such cheque or warrant shall be made payable to the order of the person whom it is sent.
- 132.3 Payment in any way whatsoever shall be made at the risk of the person entitled to the money paid or to be paid. The Company will not be responsible for a payment which is lost or delayed. The Company will be deemed to having made a payment and received a good discharge for it if a payment using any of the foregoing permissible means is made.

133. Receipt of Joint Holders

Anyone of two or more joint holders of a share may give effectual receipts for any dividends, bonuses or other moneys payable in respect of such share.

134. Dividends not to bear interest

No dividend shall bear interest against the Company.

135. Unclaimed Dividends

The Company shall comply with the provisions of the Act and rules made thereunder in respect of any unclaimed or unpaid dividend.

136. Transfer of Shares not to pass prior Dividends

Any transfer of shares shall not pass the right to any dividend declared thereon before the registration of the transfer.

137. Waiver of dividends

The waiver in whole or in part of any dividend on any share by any document (whether or not under Seal) shall be effective only if such document is signed by the member (or the person entitled to the share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of the holder) and delivered to the Company and if or to the extent that the same is accepted as such or acted upon by the Board.

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS

138. Capitalisation of Profits

- 138.1 The Company in General Meeting, may, on the recommendation of the Board, resolve:
 - (a) that it is desirable to capitalise any part of the amount for the time being standing to the credit of the Company's reserve account or to the credit of the profit and loss account or otherwise available for distribution; and
 - (b) that such sum be accordingly set free for distribution in the manner specified in clause (2)below amongst the members who would have been entitled thereto if distributed by way of dividend and in the same proportions.
- 138.2 The sum aforesaid shall not be paid in cash by shall be applied, subject to the provisions in clause below, either in or towards:
 - (i) Paying up any amounts for the time being unpaid on any shares held by such members respectively.
 - (ii) Paying up in full, unissued shares of the Company to be allotted and distributed, credited as full paid-up, to and amongst such members in the proportions aforesaid; or

- (iii) Partly in the way specified in sub-clause (i) and partly in that specified in sub-clause (ii).
- 138.3 A Securities Premium Account and Capital Redemption Reserve Account or any other permissible reserve account(s) may, for the purpose of this regulation only, be applied in the paying up of unissued shares to be issued to members of the Company as fully paid bonus shares.

139. Powers of Directors for Declaration of Bonus

- 139.1 Whenever such a resolution as aforesaid shall have been passed, the Board shall,
 - (a) make all appropriations and applications of the undivided profits resolved to be capitalised thereby and all allotments and issues of fully paid shares, if any, and
 - (b) generally, to do all acts and things required to give effect thereto.

139.2 The Board shall have full power:

- (i) to make such provisions, by the issue of fractional certificates or by payment in cash or otherwise as they think fit, in the case of shares or debentures becoming distributable in fractions and also.
- (ii) to authorise any person to enter on behalf of all the members entitled thereto into an agreement with the Company providing for the allotment to them respectively credited as fully paid up of any further shares or debentures to which they may be entitled up such capitalisation, or (as the case may require), for the payment by the Company on their behalf, by the application thereto of their respective proportions of the profits resolved to be capitalised of the amounts or any part of the amounts remaining unpaid on their existing shares.
- 139.3 Any agreement made under the authority shall be effective and binding on all such members.

ACCOUNTS

140. Books of Accounts

- 140.1 The Board shall cause proper books of accounts to be kept in respect of sums of money received and expended by the Company and the matters in respect of which such receipts and expenditure take place, of all sales and purchases of goods by the Company, of the assets and liabilities of the Company and of such items of cost, as may be prescribed under the Act and Rules.
- 140.2 If the Company is having a branch Office, whether in or outside India, proper books of account relating to the transactions effected at that office, shall be kept at that office, and proper summarised returns, periodically, shall be sent by the branch office to the company at the Registered Office or other place in India as the Board thinks fit, where the main books of the Company are kept.

- 140.3 All or any of the books of accounts aforesaid may be kept at such other place in India as the Board of Directors may decide and when the Board of Directors so decides the Company shall within the seven days' of the decision, file with the Registrar a notice in writing giving the full address of that other place.
- 140.4 All the aforesaid books shall give a fair and true view of the Affairs of the Company or of its branch, as the case may be, with respect to the matters aforesaid, and explain its transactions.
- 140.5 The books of accounts and other Books and Papers shall be open to inspection by any Directors during business hours provided atleast seven days' advance written notice was given to the Company Secretary of the Company for conducting the inspection. The Director can give a shorter notice with the consent of the chairman of the Board.
- 140.6 The Board shall from time to time determine whether and to what extent and at what times and places and under what conditions or regulations, the accounts and books of the company, or any of them, shall be open to the inspection of members not being directors.
- 140.7 No member (not being a director) shall have any right of inspecting any account or book or document of the company except as conferred by law or authorised by the Board or by the company in general meeting.
- 140.8 The Board shall lay before each Annual General Meeting a Financial Statement comprising of Profit and Loss Account for the financial year of the Company and a Balance Sheet made up as at the end of the financial year which shall be a date not preceeding the day of the meeting by more than six months or such extended period of time as shall have been granted by the Registrar under the provisions of the Act.

141. Right of Members of Copies of Balance Sheet and Auditors' Report

A copy of the financial statements, including consolidated financial statements, if any, auditor's report and every other document required by law to be annexed or attached to the financial statements, which are to be laid before a company in its general meeting, shall be sent to every member of the company, to every trustee for the debenture-holder of any debentures issued by the company, and to all persons other than such member or trustee, being the person so entitled, not less than twenty-one days before the date of the meeting.

Further the aforesaid requirement shall be deemed to be complied, if the copies of the documents are made available for inspection at its registered office during working hours for a period of twenty-one days before the date of the meeting and a statement containing the salient features of such documents in the prescribed form or copies of the documents, as the company may deem fit, is sent to every member of the company and to every trustee for the holders of any debentures issued by the company not less than twenty-one days before the date of the meeting unless the shareholders ask for full financial statements.

142. Financial Statements

- 142.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Financial Statements of the Company shall be in the forms set out in Schedule III of the Act, or as near there as circumstances admit.
- 142.2 The Financial Statements, including consolidated financial statement, if any, shall be approved by the Board of Directors before they are signed on behalf of the Board by the Chairman of the Company where he is authorised by the Board or by two directors out of which one shall be managing director, if any, and the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary of the company, wherever they are appointed.

AUDIT

143. Appointment and Audit

- 143.1 At least once in every year the books of accounts of the Company shall be examined by one or more Auditors.
- 143.2 The Company shall appoint in its annual general meeting an individual or a firm as an auditor who shall hold office from the conclusion of that meeting till the conclusion of its next sixth annual general meeting and thereafter till the conclusion of every sixth meeting. The appointment is made with the written consent of the auditor to such appointment, and a certificate from him or it that the appointment, if made, shall be in accordance with the conditions as may be prescribed, shall be obtained from the auditor. The manner of appointment, remuneration, rights and duties of the Auditor or Auditors shall be regulated by the Act.
- 143.3 Where the Company has a branch office, the account of branch offices of the Company shall be audited in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
- 143.4 The remuneration of the Auditors shall be fixed by the Company in its General Meeting or in such manner, as determined therein except the remuneration of any auditors appointed to fill any casual vacancy other than by resignation, may be fixed by the Board.
- 143.5 Any Auditor may before the expiry of his term be removed from the office by the company in General Meeting after obtaining the previous approval of the Central Government on that behalf in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

144. Service of documents on the Company

A document may be served on the Company or any officer thereof by sending it to the Company or officer at the registered office of the Company by registered post or by speed post or by courier service or by leaving it at the Registered Office or by means of such electronic or other mode as may be prescribed under the Act and rules made thereunder.

145. How documents are to be served on members

- 145.1 A document (which expression for this purpose shall be deemed to include and shall include any summons, notice, requisition, process, order judgement or any other document in relation to or in the winding up of the Company) may be served on any member by sending it to him by post or by registered post or by speed post or by courier or by delivering at his office or address, or by such electronic or other mode as may be prescribed.
- 145.2 All notices shall with respect to any registered shares to which persons are entitled jointly be given to whichever of such persons is named first in the Register, and notice so given shall be sufficient notice to all holders of such shares.
- 145.3 Where a document is sent by post, service thereof shall deemed to be effected by properly addressing, prepaying and posting a letter containing the document provided that where a member has intimated to the Company in advance that the document should be sent to him under a certificate of posting or by registered post with or without acknowledgment due and has deposited with the Company a sum sufficient to defray the expenses of doing so, service of the document shall not be deemed to be effected unless it is sent in the manner intimated by the member; and such service shall be deemed to have been effected:-
 - (i) in the case of a notice of a meeting at the expiration of forty eight hours after the letter containing the notice is posted; and
 - (ii) in any other case, at the time at which the letters would be delivered in the ordinary course of post.
- 145.4 Where a member has intimated to the Company in advance that the document should be sent to him under a registered post or speed post or courier or any electronic mode, then unless any fee is fixed by the members in the Annual General Meeting of the Company, for sending the documents through any mode specified by a member, the Company may provide the documents free of cost.

146. Members to notify Address in India

Each registered holder of shares shall from time to time notify in writing to the Company some place in India to be registered as his address and such registered place of address shall for all purposes be deemed his place of residence.

147. Service on Members having no registered address in India

If a member has no registered address in India, and has not supplied to the Company an address within India for the giving of notices to him, a document advertised in a newspaper circulating in the neighborhood of the Registered Office of the Company shall be deemed to be duly served on him on the day on which the advertisement appears.

148. Service on persons acquiring shares on death or insolvency of members

A document may be served by the Company on the persons entitled to share in consequence of the death or insolvency of a member by sending it through the post in a prepaid letter addressed to them by name, or by the title of representatives of the deceased, or assignees of insolvent or by any like description at the address (if any) in India supplied for the purpose by the person claiming to be so entitled, or (until such an address has, been so supplied) by serving the document in any manner in which the same might have been served if the death or insolvency had not occurred.

149. Persons entitled to notice of General Meetings

Subject to the provisions of the Act and these Articles, notice of General Meetings shall be given:

- (a) to every members of the Company, legal representative of any deceased member or the assignee of an insolvent member;
- (b) to the auditor or auditors of the company; and
- (c) every director of the company.

150. Advertisement

Subject to the provisions of the Act any document required to be served or sent to the members, or any of them by the Company and not expressly provided for the these presents, shall be deemed to be duly served or sent if advertised once in a newspaper circulating in the neighborhood of the Registered Office of the Company.

151. Members bound by documents given to previous holders

Every person, who by the operation of law, transfer, or other means whatsoever, shall become entitled to any share, shall be bound by every document in respect of such share which, previously to his name and address being entered in the Register, shall have been duly served on or sent to the person from whom he derives his title to such shares.

152. How notice to be signed

Any notice to be given by the Company shall be signed by the Secretary, or by the Director or officer as the Board may appoint. The signature to any notice to be given by the Company may be written or printed or lithographed.

WINDING UP

153. Winding up

Subject to the provisions of the Act, rules made thereunder-and Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016, as to preferential payments, the assets of the Company shall on its winding up be applied in satisfaction of its liabilities pari passu and, subject to such application shall unless the articles otherwise provide, be distributed among the members according to their rights and interests in the Company.

154. Division of assets of the company in specie among members

If the Company shall be wound up whether voluntarily or otherwise, the liquidators, may, with the sanction of special resolution of the Company and any other sanction required by the Act and Insolvency and Bankcruptcy Code, 2016, as the case may be, divide among the contributors in specie or kind, whole or any part of the assets of Company, whether they shall consist of property of the same kind or not and may with the like sanction vest whole or any part of the assets of the Company in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of the contributories or any of them, as the liquidators with the like sanction shall think fit. In case any shares to be divided as aforesaid involve a liability to calls or otherwise any person entitled under such division to any of the said shares may within ten days after the passing of the special resolution, by notice in writing, direct the liquidators to sell his proportion and pay him the net proceeds, and the liquidators shall, if practicable, act accordingly.

INDEMNITY AND RESPONSIBILITY

155. Right of Directors and others to Indemnity

- 155.1 The Board shall be entitled to meet cost, out of the funds of the Company, to defend, every director, manager, company secretary or officer of the Company as defined under the provisions of Section 2(59) of the Act, or any person (whether an officer of the Company or not) employed by the Company, against all claims made on them including losses, expenses, fines, penalties or such levies, by reason of any contract entered into or act or deed done by them in their capacity as such director, manager, company secretary or officer or in any way in the discharge of his duties in such capacity including expenses.
- 155.2 The Company may take and maintain any insurance as the Board may think fit on behalf of its directors, other employees and the Key Managerial Personnel or such other officials of the Company for insurers to directly meet all claims, losses, expenses, fines, penalties or such other levies, or for indemnifying any or all of them against any such liability for any acts in relation to the Company for which they may be liable.
- 155.3 Subject as aforesaid every Director, Manager, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, or other officer or employee of the Company shall be identified against any liability incurred by them defending any proceeding whether civil or criminal in which judgment is given in their or his favour or in which they or he is acquitted or discharged or in connection with any application under Section 463 of the Act in which relief is given to them or him by the court.
- 155.4 The indemnification obligations of the Company under this Article shall survive the cessation of the office of any Director, or the termination of employment, or any other similar contract or arrangement, of the Manager, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary or other Officer or employee of the Company, as the case may be.

156. Not responsible for acts of others

- 156.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act, no Director or other Officer of the Company shall be liable for the acts, receipts, neglects, or defaults of any other Director or Officer or for joining in any receipt or other act for the sake merely of conformity, for any loss or expense happening to the Company through insufficiency or deficiency of title to any property acquired by order of the Directors for on behalf of the Company, or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security or upon which any money of the Company shall be invested, or for any loss or damages arising from the bankruptcy, insolvency or tortuous act of any person, company or corporation, with whom any moneys, securities or effects shall be entrusted or deposited or for any loss occasioned by any error of judgement or oversight on his part or any other loss or damage or misfortune whatever which shall happen in the execution of duties of his officer or in relation thereto unless the same happens through his own willful act or default.
- 156.2 An Independent Director, and a non-executive director shall be liable only in respect of acts of omission or commission, by the Company which had occurred with his knowledge, attributable through Board processes, and with his consent or connivance or where he has not acted diligently.

157. Secrecy clause

- 157.1 No member (not being a director) shall be entitled to visit or inspect the Company's work or premises without the prior written permission of the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel or such other senior executives, as may be prescribed, or to acquire discovery of or any information respecting any detail of the Company' trading or any matter which is or may be in the nature of a trade secret, mystery of trade or secret process or which may relate to the conduct of the business of the Company and which in the opinion of the Board or said official, it will be inexpedient in the interest of the Company to communicate to the public.
- 157.2 Every Director, Manager, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, Auditor, Trustee, Member of a Committee, Officer, Servant, Agent, Accountant or other person employed in the business of the Company shall if so required by the Board, before entering upon his duties, or at any time during his time of office, sign a declaration pledging himself to observe strict secrecy respecting all transactions, of the Company and the state of accounts and in matters relating thereto, and shall by such declaration pledge himself not to reveal any matters which may come to his knowledge in the discharge of duties except when required so to do by the Board of Directors or by any General Meeting or by a Court of Law and except so far as may be necessary in order to comply with any of the provisions contained in these Articles.

158. General Powers

Where any provisions of the said Act, provides that the Company or its Board of Directors shall do such act, deed, or thing, or shall have a right, privilege or authority to carry out a particular transaction, only if it is so authorised in its Articles, in respect of all such acts, deeds, things, rights, privileges and authority, this Article hereby authorises the Company or its Board of Directors to carry out the same, without the need for any specific or explicit Article in that behalf.

PART B

OVERRIDING ARTICLES

1. INTERPRETATION

- A. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Table F of the Companies Act, 2013 ("Act") and Part A of these Articles, the provisions contained in Part B of these Articles shall also apply to the Company and its members and in the event of any inconsistency or contradiction between the provisions of Part B of these Articles and Part A of these Articles and / or between Part B of these Articles and Table F of the Companies Act, 2013, the provisions of Part B of these Articles shall override and prevail over the provisions of Part A of these Articles and Table F of the Companies Act, 2013.
- B. All cross references made in this Part B of these Articles shall apply to Articles of this Part B and not Part A.

In Part B of these Articles of Association: (i) unless the context suggests otherwise, capitalised terms used herein but not defined shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Agreement (as defined below) entered into by the parties thereto; (ii) capitalised terms defined by inclusion in quotations or parenthesis shall have the meanings so ascribed; and (iii) the following terms shall have the following meanings assigned to them herein below:

- (a) "Affiliates" means with respect to any Person ("Subject Person"), any other Person, which, directly or indirectly, Controls, is Controlled by, or is under direct or indirect common Control with the Subject Person. If the Subject Person is an individual, the term "Affiliate" shall include a Relative of such Subject Person. In relation to the Investor, the term "Affiliate" shall also be deemed to include, (i) any fund, collective investment scheme, trust, partnership (including, any co-investment partnership), which is managed/ advised/ sponsored by Warburg Pincus LLC or any Subsidiary or Affiliate thereof; or (ii) investment entities or special purpose vehicle of any Subsidiary or Affiliate which are directly or indirectly Controlled by the entities referred in (i) above; or (iii) companies/entities under the same management as the Investor. It is clarified that portfolio companies of the Investor or its Affiliates, shall not be considered "Affiliates" of the Investor. For the avoidance of doubt, it is clarified that the Company shall not be deemed to be an Affiliate of either the Investor or the Promoter Group/PTL;
- (b) "Agreement" shall mean the investment agreement dated February 27, 2020 read with the amendment agreement dated April 21, 2020 executed between the Company, Investor and certain members of the promoter and promoter group of the Company as disclosed to the stock exchanges on execution of the Agreement;
- (c) "As-Converted Basis" means that the CCPS shall be deemed to have been converted into Equity Shares of the Company in accordance with the terms hereof;
- (d) "Board" means the board of directors of the Company;

- (e) "CCPS" means fully paid-up compulsorily convertible preference shares of the Company having a face value of INR 100 (Indian Rupees One Hundred), which are subject to the terms and conditions under the Agreement;
- (f) "Control" means the power to direct the management or policies of any Person, whether through the ownership of over 50% (Fifty percent) of the voting power of such Person, through the power to appoint more than half of the board of directors or similar governing body of such entity, through contractual arrangements or by being the promoter (as defined under Law) of such Person or otherwise;
- (g) "Equity Securities" means, in respect of the Company, the equity capital or equity shares, or any right, options, warrants or other securities that are directly or indirectly convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, such equity capital or equity shares and shall include the CCPS, but shall not include any loans or debts availed by the Company from financial institutions which are convertible into Equity Shares;
- (h) "Governmental Authority(ies)" means any national, provincial or local government or political subdivision or department thereof of any country, jurisdiction, or any governmental, administrative or regulatory body, commission, board, bureau, agency, entity or instrumentality, authority or body exercising executive, legislative, quasi-judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of government, or any court, arbitrator, alternative dispute resolution body or tribunal, in each case with applicable jurisdiction of such country or any political subdivision thereof;
- (i) "Investor" means EMERALD SAGE INVESTMENT LTD, a company incorporated under the laws of Mauritius and having its registered office at CloWarburg Pincus Asia Ltd, 8th Floor, Newton Tower, Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis, Mauritius;
- (j) "Law(s)" shall mean all applicable provisions of all (i) constitutions, treaties, statutes, laws (including the common law), codes, rules, regulations, ordinances, by-laws or orders of any Governmental Authority, and (ii) orders, decisions, injunctions, judgments, awards and decrees promulgated by any Governmental Authority;
- (k) "Material Subsidiary" means Apollo Vredestein B. V., Netherlands and Apollo Tyres (Hungary) Kft., Hungary;
- (I) "Material Adverse Effect" means any change, event or development, which is individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse to the business, operations and/ or financial condition of the Company and the Subsidiaries taken as a whole. Provided however, in construing or determining whether a "Material Adverse Effect" has occurred, none of the following shall be taken into account-(i) any effect resulting from the transaction contemplated hereby, including taking of any action contemplated or permitted by this Agreement; (ii) any effect resulting from any action taken by the Investor or with the Investor's written consent; (iii) events

affecting the Indian or global economy or capital or financial markets generally or the industry in which the Company and/ or the Subsidiaries operate other than any such event which has a materially disproportionate effect on the Company and/ or the Subsidiaries when compared to other companies engaged in the same industry, (iv) changes in Law, other than any change in Law which has a materially disproportionate effect on the Company and/ or the Subsidiaries when compared to other companies engaged in the same industry, or (v) the effect of any war, act of terrorism, civil unrest, epidemic, act of God or similar event, other than events which have a materially disproportionate effect on the Company and/ or the Subsidiaries when compared to other companies engaged in the same industry (if any) that have been affected by the same event;

- (m) "Person" means any individual or entity, whether a corporation, firm, limited liability company, an unlimited liability company, joint venture, trust, association, organization, an unincorporated organization, partnership or proprietorship, body corporate, including any Governmental Authority, natural person in his capacity as trustee, executor, administrator, or other legal representative;
- (n) "Promoter Group" means the persons listed in Schedule 1 of the Agreement and as disclosed to the stock exchanges on execution of the Agreement;
- (o) "PTL" means PTL Enterprises Ltd;
- (p) "Subsidiaries" shall have the meaning assigned to the term under the Act;
- (q) "Tranche 2 Subscription Shares" means 54,000,000 (Five Crore Forty Lakhs) CCPS.

2. Board Composition

- 2.1. The Investor is entitled to nominate 1 (One) non-executive director (and to remove from office any director so appointed and to appoint another in the place of the director so removed) on the Board ("Investor Director") and each of the Material Subsidiaries of the Company. Subject to the relevant provisions of the Act, the Company shall pay the Investor Director (or the Alternate Director (defined below) (if applicable)) all reasonable out of pocket expenses incurred in order to attend the Board and Committee(s) (defined below) meetings of the Company or otherwise perform his duties and functions as a director of the Company or member of the relevant Committee of the Company.
- 2.2. Subject to applicable Law, the Investor Director may be removed as a director of the Company at any time by notice in writing to the Company by the Investor and in such event, the Company on receipt of the such removal notice, shall as soon as practical take such actions as required under Law for the removal of such Director from his position and the Investor may nominate another person as Investor Director to the Board.
- 2.3. The Company hereby agrees to exercise all powers and rights available to it to ensure that the person(s) nominated by the Investor is expeditiously appointed or removed (as the Investor may specify) as a Director of the Company and/ or the Material Subsidiaries.

- 2.4. The Investor hereby undertakes that the Person appointed as an Investor Director, shall not, during the tenure of his appointment, be appointed on the board of directors of any of the entities enlisted in Schedule 10 of the Agreement.
- 2.5. The Investor shall be entitled to nominate the Investor Director on various committees of the Company ("Committees").
- 2.6. The Investor Director shall be entitled to appoint an alternate director (an "Alternate Director") in his/her place (an "Original Director"). Upon the appointment of the Alternate Director of the Company, the Company shall ensure compliance with the provisions of the Act, including by filing necessary forms with the jurisdictional Registrar of Companies. The Alternate Director shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings and to attend and vote at such meetings in place of the Original Director (including in relation to meetings of Company's Committees and subject to applicable Law, meetings of the board of the Material Subsidiaries (to the extent appointed as an alternate director of the board of the Material Subsidiaries) and generally to perform all functions of the Original Director in his absence.

3. Indemnity of the Investor Director

- 3.1. To the extent permissible under applicable Law, the Investor Director shall not be liable for any default or failure of the Company or the Material Subsidiaries, as the case may be, in complying with the provisions of any applicable Law.
- 3.2. The Investor Director shall not be identified by the Company or the Material Subsidiaries, as the case may be, as an 'officer who is in default' of the Company or the Material Subsidiaries, as the case may be, or occupier of any premises used by the Company or the Material Subsidiaries, as the case may be, or the director in charge of managing affairs, or an employer of the Company or the Material Subsidiaries, as the case may be, under applicable Law.
- 3.3. The Company and the Investor hereby agree that, subject to applicable Law, the Investor Director shall not be liable and the Company or the Material Subsidiary, as the case may be, shall indemnify him, to the fullest extent permissible under applicable Laws, against any act, omission or conduct of or by the Board or the board of the Material Subsidiary, any of the Board committees, the Company or the Material Subsidiary, or their employees or agents as a result of which, in whole or in part, an Investor Director (or any Alternate Director to such Investor Director), is made a party to, or otherwise incurs any Loss pursuant to:
 - (i) Any action, suit, claim or proceeding arising out of or relating to any such conduct; or
 - (ii) Any action or failure to act as may be required to be taken by an Investor Director (or any Alternate Director to such Investor Director), in good faith at the request of the Company or the Material Subsidiaries; or

- (iii) Contravention of any applicable Laws by the Company or the Material Subsidiaries and any action or proceedings taken against an Investor Director (or any Alternate Director to such Investor Director), in connection with any such contravention or alleged contravention. Such indemnification shall be in addition to the obligation of the Company to extend the directors' and officers' insurance policy to cover the Investor Director as set out in Article 3.5 below. Such indemnification shall survive cessation of the Investor Director as director of the Company and/ or the Material Subsidiaries.
- 3.4. Notwithstanding the above, the Company shall not be liable to indemnify the Investor Director for any acts/omission on account of his default or breach of duty or trust.
- 3.5. The Company shall extend the directors' liability insurance policy of the Company for the benefit of the Investor Director (or any Alternate Director to such Investor Director) so appointed to its Board.

4. Pre-Emptive Right

- 4.1. In any issuance of Equity Securities by the Company by way of a preferential allotment, the Investor shall have the right to subscribe to the Equity Securities proposed to be issued by the Company ("New Securities") pro-rata to the then existing shareholding of the Investor (along with its Affiliates) in the Company on an As-Converted Basis. For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of Clause 4 shall not apply with respect to (i) the issuance of the Tranche 2 Subscription Shares, and (ii) the conversion of the CCPS into Equity Shares in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.
- 4.2. If the Company proposes to issue New Securities, it shall give the Investor a written notice of its intention, describing the New Securities, the price per New Security as per the valuation of the Company at which the New Securities are proposed to be issued, and their terms of issuance, and specifying the Investor's pro-rata share of such issuance (the "Issue Notice"). The Investor shall have 30 (Thirty) days after any such notice is delivered to give the Company written notice that it agrees to purchase part or all of its pro-rata share of the New Securities for the price and on the terms specified in the Issue Notice (the "Subscription Notice"). The Investor may also notify the Company in the Subscription Notice that it is willing to subscribe a specified number of the New Securities in excess of its pro-rata share of such issuance ("Additional Securities") for the price and on the terms specified in the Issue Notice.
- 4.3. If the Investor has indicated that it is willing to subscribe to the Additional Securities, the Company may, at its option, give the Investor written notice ("Unsubscribed Securities Notice") of the total number of New Securities not taken up by other Shareholders which the Company is willing to issue to the Investor ("Unsubscribed Securities") within 15 (Fifteen) days of the expiry of the 30 (Thirty) days' period referred to in Article 4.2 above.
- 4.4. 20 (Twenty) Business Days after expiry of the 30 (Thirty) days' period referred to in Article 4.2 above:
 - i. if the Investor has issued a Subscription Notice, the Investor shall subscribe the number of New Securities specified by it in the Subscription Notice;

- ii. if the Investor has indicated that it is willing to subscribe to the Additional Securities, then the Investor shall, if the Company has issued the Unsubscribed Securities Notice, also subscribe for the lower of the number of the Additional Securities and the number of Unsubscribed Securities which the Company is willing to issue as per the Unsubscribed Securities Notice:
- iii. the Investor shall simultaneously pay the relevant consideration to the Company;
- iv. the Company shall convene meetings of the Board issuing and allotting the New Securities and/or Additional Securities to the Investor and update its register of members in this regard; and
- the Company shall also undertake such other filings and actions as may be required under applicable Law in relation to issue and allotment of such New Securities.
- 4.5. Notwithstanding the above, in the event, after taking into account the Tranche 2 Subscription Shares subscribed to/ to be subscribed to by the Investor, the subscription of any New Securities and/or Unsubscribed Securities would trigger the open offer requirements under the provisions of the SEBI (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011, then the Investor shall be entitled to subscribe to only the maximum number of such New Securities and/or Unsubscribed Securities which, taken together with the Equity Securities already held by the Investor (along with, if applicable, the Tranche 2 Subscription Shares to be subscribed to by the Investor), will not trigger the open offer requirements under the provisions of the SEBI (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011.

If the Investor does not issue a Subscription Notice within the time period set out in Article 4.2 above or if the Investor, agrees to subscribe to a lesser number of Equity Securities, then the Company shall be free to proceed to issue the Equity Securities to any Person on the terms and conditions as set out in the Issue Notice.

5. Fall-away of the Investor's rights;

(3)

- 5.1. In the event, the shareholding of the Investor (calculated along with Equity Securities, if any, held by its Affiliates), on an As-Converted Basis, falls below 5% (Five Percent) of the Share Capital, then all rights and obligations of the Investor and the other parties to the Agreement as set out under this Part B of the Articles (other than the obligation of the Investor to subscribe to the Tranche 2 Subscription Shares in accordance with the other parties to the Agreement) shall terminate, forthwith without any act or omission by the
- 5.2. In the event, after the issue of the Tranche 2 CP Satisfaction Certificate (as defined under the Agreement) by the Company, the Investor fails to subscribe to the Tranche 2 Subscription Shares in the manner set out under the Agreement in breach of its obligations hereunder, except where such failure/refusal is on account of a change, event or development which results into a Material Adverse Effect between April 22, 2020 and the date on which subscription to the Tranche 2 Subscription Shares shall take place and which is continuing, then, without prejudice to the other rights or remedies of the other Parties, the rights of the Investor (and correspondingly, all obligations of the other Parties hereto) shall fall away, other than the right of the Investor set out in Articles 2 and 3 of this Part B of the Articles.

Names, Addresses, Description and Occupation of Subscribers		Signature
JOSE A. KALLIVAYALIL, Son of K.C. Abraham, Planter, Mundakayam, Kerla		(Sd.)
Mundakayani, Kena	Planter	
P.M. ANTONY, Son of late Mr. P.J. Mathew, Villa Vacha No. 10 Ist Main Road, Kasturba Nagar, Madras-20		(Sd.)
	Industrialist	
MATHEW T. MARATTURALAM,	× 1	(Sd.)
Son of late Chacko Thomas, Ruby Nagar, Changanacherry, Kerla	In decembricalism	
	Industrialist	
THOMAS VARGHESE, Son of Sri K.T. Varghese, Kalaikattil, Vallamkulam, Tiruvalla, Kerla		(Sd.)
	Doctor of Medicine	
A.K. THAMPY, Son of A. Abraham,		(Sd.)
I-D, First, St. Thirumurtinagar, Madras – 34		
Madras 04	Industrialist	
JACOB THOMAS,		(Sd.)
Son of K.C. Thomas, Kalapurackal, Kottayam- 1	Industrialist	
ABRAHAM THARAKAN, Son of P.A.K. Tharakan,		(Sd.)
195- C, Krishnaswamy Cross Road	, Kochi – 11	
	Business Executive	

Dated this the 10 day of September 1972.

Witness to the above Signatures:
P. P. ROCKEY,
Son of Palaparambil Philipose,
Advocate's Clerk,
XXXIX/968, Emakulam,
Kochi-17